
1 
 

Southwest Area Regional Transit District 
Board of Directors Meeting 

March 22, 2023 
 713 East Main Street 

Uvalde, Texas 
2:00 PM 
Agenda 

Executive Session 
The Board may go into Executive Session (close meeting to the public): 

1. The Board may go into Executive Session Pursuant to Texas Government code 551.074 for the purposes of discussing personnel matter including to deliberate 
the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline, or dismissal of a public officer or employee. 

2. Pursuant to Tex. Gov’t Code, 551.071 (1) to seek advice of its attorney about pending or contemplated litigation or a settlement offer. 
3. Pursuant to Tex. Gov’t Code, 551.071 (2) for the purpose of seeking advice of its attorney about a matter in which the duty of the attorney to the governmental 

body under the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar of Texas clearly conflicts with the Tex. Gov’t code, Chapter 551; or 
4. Pursuant to Tex. Gov’t Code, 551.072 to deliberate the possible purchase, sale, exchange, or lease of real estate because it would have a material detrimental 

effect in the Department’s ability to negotiate with a third person. 
5. Pursuant to Tex. Gov’t Code, 2306.039 (c), the Department’s internal auditor, fraud prevention coordinator or ethics advisor may meet in an executive session 

of the Board to discuss issues related to fraud, waste, or abuse. 

 

I. Call to Order 
II. Roll Call 
III. Discussion and Possible Action on Board Minutes – December 20, 2022 
IV. New Business 

a. Discussion & Possible Action on Board Officer Elections 
b. Report on SWART FY 2022 Independent Audit – Garza/Gonzalez & Associates 
c. Discussion & Possible Action on SWART FY 2022 Independent Audit 
d. Discussion & Possible Action on Request for Bids – vehicle A/C Repair Equipment 
e. Discussion & Possible Action on Request for Proposals – Maintenance Plan and Training 
f. Discussion & Possible Action on Vehicle Procurement 
g. Discussion & Possible Action on Request for Bids – Crystal City Facility Rehab 
h. Report on Section 5310 Elderly &  Disabled Grant Application 
i. Discussion & Possible Action on Partners In Transit, Inc. Corporate Minute Book 

1. Letter regarding formation of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC. 
2. Consent to Serve as Registered Agent of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC. 
3. Certificate of Formation of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC. 
4. Certificate of Filing the Certificate of Formation of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, 

INC. 
5. Bylaws of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC. 
6. Minutes Organizational Meeting of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC. 
7. Conflict Policy  

V. SWART Financials  
a. Report on Bank Account Balances – handout 
b. Report on FY 2023 Cash Flow Analysis  
c. Discussion and Possible Action of Budget Revisions 

1. GY 2023 Federal Grant – 505 
2. GY 2023 Regional Planning – 515 

d. Discussion & Possible Action on Revised Pay Scale 
e. Discussion & Possible Action on Salary Adjustments 

1



2 
 

f. Discussion and Possible Action on Budget Closeouts  
1. GY 2023 RTAP Training Activities Grant – 50 
2. GY 2022 Regional Planning Program – 515 
3. GY 2022 AARP Livable Communities - 521 

g. Discussion and Possible Action of Grant Year Revenue & Expense Reports Ending 
January 2023 

1. GY 2023 RTAP Vehicle Maintenance Plan – 407 
2. GY 2023 RTAP TransTrack System -408 
3. GY 2023 Federal Program – 505 
4. GY 2023 State Program – 506 
5. GY 2023 Transit Support (TRS) Program – 510 
6. GY 2021 Rural Discretionary – EP Route – 513 
7. GY 2023 Regional Planning Program – 515 
8. GY 2022 Rural Discretionary – EP Property Procurement – 516 
9. GY 2022 Rural Discretionary – Uvalde Building Rehab – 517 
10. GY 2023 Crystal City Rehabilitation – 518 
11. GY 2022 ED Section 5310 Program - 525  
12. GY 2023 Elderly/Disabled (Vehicles) – 525 
13. GY 2021 Bus & Bus Facility Section 5339-D Program – 530 
14. GY 2023 5339 Bus & Bus Facility – Regular  - 539 
15. GY 2023 5339 Bus & bus Facility - Discretionary  - 540 
16. GY 2023 Rural Discretionary Vehicle Maintenance Equipment – 545 

h. Discussion and Possible Action on Check Register  
1. November 2022 
2. December 2022 
3. January 2023 

i. Report on Bank Reconciliations 
1. Employee Savings Account 

i. November 2022 
ii. December 2022 
iii. January 2023 

2. Operating Account 
i. November 2022 
ii. December 2022 
iii. January 2023 

VI. Discussion and Possible Action on General Manager’s Report  
VII. Adjourn 

2



 

 

Board Meeting Minutes 

3



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
 Board Meeting 

Tuesday, December 20, 2022 
713 East Main Street, Uvalde, Texas 

10:30 A. M. 
 

I. Call to Order 
The meeting was called to order at 10:35 A.M. 

 
II. Roll Call 

Roll call was taken, and quorum was established with the following members present: 
 
Judge Bill Mitchell - TEAMS 
Bella A. Rubio 
Judge Souli A. Shanklin 
Judge Tully Shahan 
Christine Cardona-Guerrero for Judge Francisco Ponce - TEAMS 
Damiana Guzman for Judge Joel Rodriguez Jr. - TEAMS 

   
III. Public Comment 

There was no public comment  
 

IV. Minutes 
Discussion and approval of the September 22, 2022, Board of Directors Meeting Minutes.  Judge 
Souli A. Shanklin made a motion to approve the minutes as presented and Judge Tully Shahan 
seconded the motion. The motion was carried unanimously. 

 
V. New Business 

A. Discussion & Possible Action on Revised SWART Finance Manual  
Sarah H. Cook, General Manager, informed the board that Anna R. Diaz, Auditing Manager, had 
made the necessary changes to the finance manual that were recommended by KFH and the 
auditors.  These changes will also reflect the transition once Eagle Pass becomes a UZA.   Judge 
Souli A. Shanklin made a motion to approve the changes to the financial manual as presented 
and Judge Tully Shahan seconded the motion. The motion was carried unanimously. 

 
B. Discussion and Possible Action on Request for Bids – Business Analytics and Data 

Management System 
Laura Herrera, Chief Financial Manager, informed and gave the board a handout of the four (4) 
bids that were submitted through the procurement process.  According to the bids, Trans Track 
met all the requirements, and was recommended.  Judge Souli A. Shanklin made a motion to 
approve the bids and recommendation as presented and Judge Tully Shahan seconded the 
motion. The motion was carried unanimously. 
 

C. Discussion & Possible Action on SWART Safety Manual 
Cynthia Rodriguez, Assistant General Manager, informed the board that the safety committee 
meeting had met on September 29, 2022, and had revised the point structure in the Safety Policy.    
Judge Tully Shahan made a motion to approve the safety policy with the recommended changes 

4



as presented and Christine Cardona-Guerrero seconded the motion. The motion was carried 
unanimously. 
 
 

D. SWART Financials 
a. Report on Bank Account Balances - handout 

Laura Herrera, Chief Financial Officer, presented a report on account balances as a 
handout and informed the board of the current balances in the bank. 

 
b. Report on FY2022 Cash Flow Analysis 

Laura Herrera, Chief Financial Officer, presented the board with an updated FY2022 & 
FY2023 cash flow analysis.   
 

c. Discussion and Possible Action on Budgets  
Laura Herrera, Chief Financial Officer, presented the GY2022 Elderly & Disabled (5310) 
Budget, Budget Revisions - GY2021 Rural Eagle Pass Fixed Route – 513, and Budget 
Closeouts - GY2021 CARES Program -500, GY2022 Federal Program – 505, GY2022 
State Program -506, GY GY2022 Transit Support Program (TRS) – 510.  Judge Souli A. 
Shanklin made a motion to approve the budgets as presented and Christine Cardona – 
Guerrero seconded the motion.  The motion was carried unanimously.  

 
d. Discussion and Possible Action of Grant Year Revenue & Expense Reports Ending 

October 2022 
GY2023 RTAP Vehicle Maintenance Plan – 407, GY2023 RTAP Trans Track System -
408, GY2023 Federal Program – 505, GY2023 State Program - 506, GY2023 RTAP 
Training Activities – 508, GY2023 Transit Support (TRS) Program – 510, GY2021 Rural 
Discretionary – EP Route - 513, GY2022 Regional Planning Program – 515, GY2023 
Regional Planning Program - 515, GY2022 Rural Discretionary – EP Property 
Procurement - 516, GY2022 Rural Discretionary – Uvalde Building Rehab - 517, GY 2023 
Crystal City Rehabilitation – 518, GY2022 AARP Livable Communities – 521, GY2022 ED 
Section 5310 Program – 525, GY2023 Elderly/Disabled (vehicles) – 425, GY2021 Bus & 
Bus Facility Section 5339-D Program – 530, GY2023 5339 Bus & Bus Facility -Regular -
539, GY2023 5339 Bus & Bus Facility – Discretionary – 540, GY2023 Rural Discretionary 
Vehicle Maintenance Equipment - 545.  Christine Cardona-Guerrero made a motion to 
approve the revenue and expense reports as presented and Judge Bill Mitchell seconded 
the motion.  The motion was carried unanimously.  
 

e. Discussion and Possible Action on Check Register 
Laura Herrera, Chief Financial Officer, presented to the board the check registers for 
August 2022 thru October 2022.  Judge Souli A. Shanklin made a motion to approve the 
check registers as presented and Judge Tully Shahan seconded the motion.  The motion 
was carried unanimously.  

 
f. Report on Bank Reconciliations 

Laura Herrera, Chief Financial Officer, presented to the board the bank reconciliations for 
the Employee Savings account for August thru October 2022, and for the operating 

5



account August 2022 thru October 2022.  Bank reconciliations were approved as 
presented. 

 
E. Discussion and Possible Action on General Manager’s Report 

Sarah H. Cook, General Manager read over the General Managers report. Sarah mentioned the 
activities planned for the next few months and training SWART staff will be attending. Judge Souli 
A. Shanklin made a motion to approve the general manager’s report as presented and Judge 
Tully Shahan seconded the motion.  The motion was carried unanimously. 
 
 

F. ADJOURN 
A motion was made to adjourn from Judge Souli A. Shanklin made the motion to adjourn and 
Judge Tully Shahan seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously. The meeting 
adjourned at 11:40 a.m.  

 
_______________________________________  
Judge Bill Mitchell, Board Secretary/Treasurer 

6



FY 2022 Audit

7



207 Arden Grove 
San Antonio, TX  78215 
210/227-1389 
Fax 227-0716 

Garza/Gonzalez & Associates 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 
Uvalde, Texas 

 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL AND COMPLIANCE REPORT 

 
Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

8



 

SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL AND COMPLIANCE REPORT 

 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 PAGE 
 
Principal Officials .............................................................................................................................  

 
1 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report...........................................................................................................  

 
2-4 

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ..........................................................................................  

 
5-9 

 
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 

Statement of Net Position .............................................................................................................  
 

10 
 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position ........................................  
 

11 
 

Statement of Cash Flows ..............................................................................................................  
 

12 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements ................................................................................................  
 
13-22 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION  
 

Schedule of Operating Program Expenses by Fund .....................................................................  
 

23 

 

FEDERAL AWARDS SECTION  
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 

Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 

Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ................................................................  24-25 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on 

Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance ...............................  
 
26-28 

 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ...............................................................................  

 
29-30 

 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ............................................................................  

 
31 

 
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ........................................................  

 
32 

 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings ...............................................................................  

 
33 

 

9



1 

SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT’S 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

PRINCIPAL OFFICIALS 

 

August 31, 2022 

 

 

 

Board Members 

 

Cristine Cardona-Guerrero for Judge Francisco Ponce 

Dimmit 

 

Judge Souli A. Shanklin 

Edwards 

 

Judge Tully Shahan 

Kinney 

 

Damiana Guzman for Judge Joel Rodriguez, Jr. 

La Salle 

 

Judge David Saucedo 

Maverick 

 

Judge Bella A. Rubio 

Real 

 

Judge Lupe Valerio for Judge Joe Luna 

Zavala 

 

Judge Bill Mitchell 

Uvalde 

 

 

General Manager 

 

Sarah Hidalgo-Cook 

 

Assistant General Manager 

 

Cynthia Rodriquez 

10



207 Arden Grove 
San Antonio, TX  78215 
210/227-1389 
Fax 227-0716 

Garza/Gonzalez & Associates 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

 

 

To the Board of Directors  

Southwest Area Regional Transit District 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of the Southwest Area 

Regional Transit District (the District) as of and for the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related 

notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed 

in the table of contents.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 

financial position of the business-type activities of the District, as of August 31, 2022 and 2021, and the 

respective changes in financial position, and, its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 

by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We 

are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with 

the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.  

Change in Accounting Principle 

As discussed in Note I.C.2. to the financial statements, the District adopted Governmental Accounting 

Standards Board Statement No. 87, Leases, which establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the 

foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset.  The District, as a 

lessee, and as required by GASB 87, has recognized a right-to-use liability and an intangible right-to-use lease 

asset. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 

implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

                    211



3 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 

events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a 

going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 

information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not 

a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 

Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, 

they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 

Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures 

include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 

raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 

period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 

that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 

discussion and analysis, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial 

statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic 

financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 

essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 

economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 

information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 

consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 

information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 

and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an 

opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 

sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

12



4 

Supplementary Information  

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 

comprise the District’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying schedule of expenses by fund and 

schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 

200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, 

are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 

underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  The information has 

been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain 

additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 

accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 

themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America.  In our opinion, the schedule of expenses by fund and the schedule of expenditures 

of federal awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a 

whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 24, 2023, 

on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 

compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 

The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 

reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an 

audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal 

control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

 

February 24, 2023 

 

13



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

 

5 

As management of the Southwest Area Regional Transit District (the District), we offer readers of the 

District's financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities for the year 

ended August 31, 2022.  We encourage readers to consider the information presented here. 

 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 

• The assets of the District exceeded its liabilities by $3,945,090 (net position) for the year ended August 

31, 2022.  This represents a slight decrease of $22,659 from the previous year when assets exceeded 

liabilities by $3,967,749. 

• Total capital assets (net of depreciation) were $3,028,283 for the current year reported compared to 

$3,269,992 in the previous year, which decreased by $241,709 for the current year reported. 

• The District received COVID-19 federal assistance of $207,107 from the Texas Department of 

Transportation.  These funds were utilized for operating funds in lieu of the standard federal, state and 

local funding for this period.   

 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the District's basic financial 

statements.  The District's basic financial statements comprise two components: 1) proprietary fund financial 

statements, and 2) notes to the financial statements. 

 

Basic financial statements.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 

resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objective.  The District, like other state and 

local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 

requirements. 
 

Proprietary fund.  The District maintains one proprietary fund (enterprise fund) to account for its transportation 

operations. 

 

The basic financial statements can be found on pages 10 through 12. 

 

Notes to the financial statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 

understanding of the data provided in the proprietary fund financial statements.  The notes to the financial 

statements can be found on pages 13 – 22 of this report. 

 

Financial Analysis 

 

Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial position.  

 

The largest portion of the District's net position (77%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., vehicles, 

office furniture and equipment, and buildings), net of any related debt.  The District uses these capital assets 

to provide public transportation services to residents of Dimmit, Edwards, Kinney, La Salle, Maverick, Real, 

Uvalde, and Zavala Counties; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. 

  

14



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

 

6 

The remaining portion of the District's net position (23%) represents unrestricted net position that may be used to meet 

the District's ongoing obligations to creditors. 

 

The District's net position decreased by $22,659, compared to the previous year. 

 

Below are summaries of the District's Statement of Net Position and Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes 

in Net Position. 

 

   Statements of Net Position 

   August 31, 

   2022  2021  2020 

Current Assets $                1,153,273  $                  850,305  $                 492,392 

Right-to-Use Leased Asset 38,244   -  - 

Capital Assets 3,028,283  3,269,992  2,980,103 

 Total Assets $                4,219,800  $               4,120,297  $              3,472,495 

        

Current Liabilities $                   179,615  $                    95,838  $                 263,885 

Long Term Liabilities 95,095  56,710  56,710 

 Total Liabilities 274,710  152,548  320,595 

        

Net Position      

 Net Investment in Capital Assets 3,028,283  3,269,992  2,980,103 

 Unrestricted 916,807  697,757  171,796 

  Total Net Position $                3,945,090  $               3,967,749  $              3,151,899 

 

  

15



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

 

7 

  Statements of Activities 

  August 31, 

  2022  2021  2020 

Operating Revenues      

 Passenger Revenues $              136,082   $                      74,709   $                101,072  

 Rents and Other Revenues              885,357                      546,415                  292,360  

 Grants and Contributions           2,532,965                   3,088,075               2,125,188  

     Total Operating Revenues            3,554,404                   3,709,199               2,518,620  

       

Operating Expenses      

 Transportation Programs            3,005,768                   3,100,257               2,304,663  

 Depreciation Expense               558,453                      520,130                  423,968  

 Amortization Expense               10,430   -  - 

     Total Operating Expenses            3,574,651                   3,620,387               2,728,631  

       

Operating Income (Loss)            (20,247)                      88,812                (210,011) 

       

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)      

 Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Capital Assets -                     (24,650)                   (8,315) 

 Interest Expense              (2,875)                       (4,999)                 (10,232) 

     Total Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses)              (2,875)                     (29,649)                 (18,547) 

       

Income (Loss) Before Capital Grants and Contributions              (23,122)                      59,163                (228,558) 

       

Capital Grants                    463                      756,687               1,238,455  

Change in Net Position             (22,659)                     815,850               1,009,897  
       

Net Position at Beginning of Year            3,967,749                   3,151,899               2,142,002  

Net Position at End of Year $           3,945,090   $                 3,967,749   $             3,151,899  

  

16



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

 

8 

CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

The District's investment in capital assets for its proprietary fund as of August 31, 2022, totaled to $3,028,283 

(net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital assets includes vehicles, buildings, furniture and 

equipment. No capital assets were disposed in the current year. In the current year the District acquired three (3) 

vehicles and made building improvements for a total value of $316,744. 

 

 Capital Assets 

 (Net of Depreciation) 

 August 31, 

 2022  2021  2020 

Land $                      209,654  $         209,654  $         209,654 

Buildings 1,765,141  1,701,476  1,515,179 

Machinery, Equipment & Vehicles 3,859,544  3,606,465  3,366,389 

Accumulated Depreciation (2,806,056)  (2,247,603)  (2,111,119) 

        Total $                   3,028,283 
 

$      3,269,992 
 
$     2,980,103 

 

Additional information on the District's capital assets can be found in the notes to the financial statements. 

 

 
LONG TERM LIABILITES 

 

Long term liabilities consist of compensated absences for $64,528 and non-current portion of lease liability for 

$30,567.  Additional detailed information is found in note II E. to the financial statements. 

 

 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND THE NEXT YEAR'S BUDGETS AND RATES  

 

The budget for the year ended August 31, 2023 and actual revenues from fiscal year 2022 is as follows: 

 

    Budget  Actual 

    2023  2022 

Federal Grants  $                2,247,824  $                1,538,034  

State Grants  572,946                   641,066  

TRS  991,757  648,417 

Elderly and Disabled  597,000                   375,338  

Bus and Bus Facility  427,561                         463  

Other  35,000                114,402 

 Total  $                4,872,088  $                3,317,720  

 

Federal and state grant allocations are expected to carry over into fiscal year 2022.  

17



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 

 

9 

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 

 

The financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the District's finances for all those with an 

interest in the District's finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or 

requests for additional financial information should be addressed to: 

 

Sarah Hidalgo-Cook, CCTM 

General Manager 

Southwest Area Regional Transit District 

713 East Main Street 

Uvalde, Texas 78801 

830-278-4155 or 800-499-1617 

www.paseoswart.org 

18

http://www.paseoswart.org/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

19



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT

Uvalde, Texas

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

2022 2021

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash 902,317$                 529,960$                 

Restricted Cash - Staff Savings 28,440                     16,130                     

Grants Receivable 222,516                   304,215                   

Total Current Assets 1,153,273                850,305                   

Non-Current Assets

Right-to-Use Lease Asset (net of accumulated amortization) 38,244                     -                           

Capital Assets

Land 209,654                   209,654                   

Buildings & Improvements 1,765,141                1,701,476                

Vehicles & Equipment 3,859,544                3,606,465                

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation (2,806,056)              (2,247,603)              

Total capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 3,028,283                3,269,992                

Total Non-Current Assets 3,066,527                3,269,992                

Total Assets 4,219,800$              4,120,297$              

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable 43,760$                   9,502$                     

Accrued Salaries and Benefits Payable 73,711                     62,016                     

Due to Employees for Staff Savings 30,330                     17,310                     

Credit Card Payable 1,732                       7,010                       

Unearned Revenue 20,369                     -                           

Current Portion Long-term Lease Liability 9,713                       -                           

Total Current Liabilities 179,615                   95,838                     

Non-Current Liabilities

Compensated Absences 64,528                     56,710                     

Non-Current Portion Lease Liability 30,567                     -                           

Total Non-Current Liabilities 95,095                     56,710                     

Total Liabilities 274,710                   152,548                   

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 3,028,283                3,269,992                

Unrestricted 916,807                   697,757                   

Total Net Position 3,945,090$              3,967,749$              

 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

August 31,

 10

20



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT

Uvalde, Texas

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

Years Ended August 31,

2022 2021

Operating Revenues

Grants and Contracts 2,532,965$             3,088,075$             

Passenger Fares 136,082 74,709

Rental Income 52,205 52,205

Contract Revenues 723,947 397,478

Donations 62,000 53,150

Other Revenues 47,205 43,582

Total Operating Revenues 3,554,404 3,709,199

Operating Expenses

Transportation Programs 3,005,768 3,100,257

Depreciation Expense 558,453 520,130

Amortization Expense 10,430 -                          

Total Operating Expenses 3,574,651 3,620,387

Operating income (loss) (20,247) 88,812

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)

Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Capital Assets -                          (24,650)

Interest (2,875)                     (4,999)                     

Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) (2,875) (29,649)

Income (Loss) Before Capital Grants (23,122) 59,163

Capital Grants and Contributions

Capital Grants 463                         756,687                  

Change in Net Position (22,659) 815,850

Net Position at Beginning of Year 3,967,749 3,151,899

Net Position at End of Year 3,945,090$             3,967,749$             

   

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

11

21



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT

Uvalde, Texas

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended August 31,

2022 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from Grantors/Contractors 3,358,980            3,556,768            

Receipts from Passengers 136,082               74,709                 

Receipts from Donors 62,000                 53,150                 

Receipts from Others 99,410                 95,787                 

Cash Paid to Vendors (1,077,770)           (1,237,048)           

Cash Paid to Employees (1,866,485)           (1,968,973)           

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 712,217               574,393               

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest payments (159)                     (4,729)                  

Net Cash (Used) by Non Capital Financing Activities (159)                     (4,729)                  

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets -                       34,575                 

Purchase of Capital Assets (316,281)              (112,558)              

Principal Payments on Line of Credit and Notes Payable -                       (62,283)                

Principal Payments on Lease Liability (8,394)                  -                       

Interest Paid on Lease Liability (2,716)                  -                       

Net Cash Provided/(Used) by Capital and Related Financing Activities (327,391)              (140,266)              

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH 384,667               429,398               

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 546,090               116,692               

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH AT END OF YEAR 930,757$             546,090$             

  

 

RECONCILIATION OF NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating Income (Loss) (20,247)$              88,812$               

Adjustments to Reconcile change in Net Position to

        Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities:

Depreciation 558,453               520,130               

Amortization on Right-to-Use Lease Asset 10,430                 -                       

 Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets -                       -                       

(Increase) Decrease in Operating Assets:

Grants receivable 81,699                 71,215                 

Increase (Decrease) in Operating Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 34,258                 (5,437)                  

Accrued Salaries and Benefits Payable 11,695                 (102,124)              

Due to other funds -                       -                       

Due to Employees for Staff Savings 13,020                 7,410                   

Credit Card Payable (5,278)                  (5,613)                  

Unearned Revenue 20,369                 -                       

Compensated Absences 7,818                   -                       

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 712,217               574,393               

Supplemental Disclosures:

 Non-Cash Transaction:  Acquisition of Equipment, Building, and Improvements from TXDOT programs  $                    463 756,687$             

Reconciliation to Statement of Net Position:

Cash 902,317$             529,960$             

Restricted Cash 28,440                 16,130                 

930,757$             546,090$             

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

 12

22



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

13 

 

 

I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The financial statements of the Southwest Area Regional Transit District (the "District") have been 

prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental 

entities.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body 

for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The following represents the 

significant accounting policies and practices used by the District. 

 

A. Reporting Entity 

 

The District is a local governmental body and political subdivision existing under Chapters 458 of the 

Transportation Code of the State of Texas.  The District is governed by a Board of Directors 

composed of elected officials from each of the counties served.  The District offers public and 

specialized transportation services for the following counties; Dimmit, Edwards, LaSalle, Kinney, 

Maverick, Real, Uvalde, Val Verde, and Zavala.  Medical transportation services are provided in Val 

Verde County.  The District began operations effective June 1, 2012. 

 

The following are the primary services offered by the District: 

 

• Rural Public Transportation Services 

• Job Access Transportation 

• Non-Emergency Medical Transportation for Medicaid Eligible Clients 

• Contracted Transportation 

 

B. Basic Financial Statements – Fund Financial Statements 

 

The financial statements of the District are reported as a proprietary fund financial statements.  The 

fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprises its assets, 

liabilities, net position, revenues and expenses.  The focus of proprietary fund measurement is on the 

determination of operating income, changes in net position, financial position, and cash flows.  The 

general accounting principles applicable are those similar to businesses in the private sector.  The 

following briefly describes the purpose of proprietary fund: 

 

• Enterprise funds are required to be used to account for operations for which a fee is charged 

to external users for goods and services and the activity is financed with debt that is solely 

secured by a pledge of the net revenues. 

23



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

14 

 

 

I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

 

1. Grant funds are considered to be earned to the extent of expenditures made under the provisions 

of the grant.  Accordingly, when such funds are received, they are recorded as unearned revenues 

until related and authorized expenditures have been made.  If the balance has not been expended by 

the end of the project period, grantors sometimes require the District to refund all or part of the 

unused amount. 

 

The financial statements are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement focus 

and utilize the accrual basis of accounting.  This basis of accounting recognizes revenues in the 

accounting period in which they are earned and become measurable and expenses in the 

accounting period in which they are incurred and become measurable.  The District applies all 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  With this measurement 

focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operations of these funds are included on the 

fund Statement of Net Position.  The fund equity is segregated into (1) net investment in capital 

assets and (2) unrestricted net position. 

 

The District distinguishes between operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses.  Operating 

revenues and expenses consist of charges for services (including intergovernmental revenues 

received in exchange for providing transportation and in-kind revenues) and the cost of providing 

those services, including depreciation and excluding interest cost.  All other revenues and 

expenses are reported as non-operating. 

 

2. Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

 

The District implemented GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, during fiscal year 2022.  GASB 

Statement No. 87 establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational 

principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this statement, 

the District, as a lessee, is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use 

asset. 

 

A right-to-use lease is defined as a contract that conveys control of another entity’s nonfinancial 

asset as specified in the contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction. 

To be accounted for as a lease, the lease must meet the definition of a “long-term” lease provided 

in GASB 87.  The lease liability should be measured at the present value of payments expected to 

be made during the lease term and the interest included in the lease payment is recorded as an 

expense. 

 

D. Use of Estimates 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and 

disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

24



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

15 

 

 

I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

E. Assets, Liabilities and Net Position 

 

1. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the District’s cash and cash equivalents are comprised 

of cash on hand and in banks.  Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments 

with and original maturity of three months or less. 

 

2. Grants Receivable 

 

Grants receivable represent amounts due from federal and state agencies for the various programs 

administered by the District.  The receivable includes amounts due on programs closed out and 

those in progress as of August 31, 2022. 

 

3. Restricted Cash 

 

Cash that has been earmarked in connection with an employee savings program is not available 

for general operations.  The restricted cash balance at August 31, 2022 and 2021 totaled $28,440 

and $16,130; respectively, and is presented in the Statement of Net Position. 

 

4. Capital Assets and Depreciation 

 

Capital assets, which include land, buildings and vehicles, are reported in the proprietary fund.  

Capital assets are defined by the District as assets with an init ial , individual cost of more than 

$5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of two years.  Such assets are recorded at historical 

cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded 

at estimated fair market value on the date received. 

 

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred.  

Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital 

assets, as applicable.  The District's grantor agencies retain a reversionary interest in the grant 

equipment that the District has recorded on their financial statements.  That is, if the grantor agency 

were to terminate the program, the title to the equipment reverts to the grantor agency and the 

equipment would be required to be returned to the grantor agency. 

 

Capital Assets of the District are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following 

useful lives: 

 

Assets Years 

Building(s) 30 

Vehicle(s) 8 

 

25



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

16 

 

 

I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

5. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
 

The District considers its receivables from reimbursement grants fully collectible; therefore, an 

allowance for doubtful accounts is not recognized.  Grants receivable are written off when 

management makes the determination that an amount is not collectible.  The District had no bad 

debts for the years ended August 31, 2022 or 2021. 
 

6. Restricted/Unrestricted Resources 
 

The District applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which 

both restricted and unrestricted net position are available. 
 

7. Retirement Plan 
 

The District has adopted a tax-deferred plan under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.  

The Plan provides that all employees are eligible to participate after completing six months of 

service and are at least eighteen years of age.  The District may make a discretionary matching 

contribution based on a percentage of the participant’s compensation.  The matching contribution 

are to be determined by the employer and are determined on a plan year basis.   
 

8. Net Position 
 

Net position is comprised of three components: 
 

• Net investment in capital assets – consist of the historical cost of capital assets less 

accumulated depreciation and less any debt that remains outstanding that was used to 

finance those assets. 

• Restricted net position – consist of net position that are restricted by the District's 

creditors (for example, through debt covenants), by the state enabling legislation 

(through restrictions on shared revenues), by grantors (both federal and state), and by 

other contributors. 

• Unrestricted – all other net position is reported in this category. 
 

9. Compensated Absences 
 

District employees earn annual leave at rates varying according to their years of service. Annual 

leave is credited each pay period at the rate of 4 hours for employees working 12-59 months; 5 

hours for employees working 60-119 months; and, 6 hours for employees working at least 120 

months.  

 

Upon termination of employment, the District pays employees who have completed 12 months of 

services the unused portion of their accrued annual leave, not to exceed 96 hours.  However, if 

SWART, in its sole discretion, terminates employment for cause, forfeiture of unused annual 

leave time may result. 
 

26



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

17 

 

 

I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

Upon resignation, an employee will be paid their unused portion of annual leave, not to exceed 96 

hours if employed 12 to 59 months and 192 hours if employed 60 or more months, providing all 

policies were followed, including two-week notice and the exit interview. 

 

The compensated absences liability at August 31, 2022 and 2021 totaled $64,528 and $56,710 

respectively. 

 

10. Capital Grants and Contributions 

 

The District reports as capital grants and contributions revenues awarded by the U.S Department 

of Transportation for capital purchases under the Formula Grants for Rural Areas and the Bus and 

Bus Facilities Program for fiscal year 2022.  Capital Grants and Contributions totaled $463 and 

$756,687 respectively for the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

 

11. Budget and Budgetary Accounting 

 

The District's primary funding source is federal, state grants and contracts which have contract 

periods that may or may not coincide with the District's fiscal year.  These grants normally are for 

a 12-month period; however, they can be awarded for periods shorter or longer than 12 months. 

 

Although the financial plan is reviewed and approved by the District's Board, it is not considered 

a legally adopted annual budget.  Accordingly, comprehensive budget and actual results are not 

required to be presented in this report. 

 

12. Leases 

 

The District is a lessee for a non-cancelable lease of equipment.  The District recognizes a lease 

liability and a right-to-use lease asset in the business type fund.  The lease asset is initially 

measured as the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before 

the lease commencement date. Subsequently, the lease asset is amortized on a straight-line basis 

over its useful life. 

 

A. Deposits and Investments 

 

a. State statutes authorize the District to invest in (1) obligations of the U.S. Treasury, certain U.S. 

agencies, and the State of Texas; (2) certificates of deposit, (3) certain municipal securities, (4) 

money market savings accounts, (5) repurchase agreements, (6) banker’s acceptances, (7) Mutual 

Funds, (8) Investment pools, (9) guaranteed investment contracts, (10) and common trust funds. 

 

During the year ended August 31, 2022 or 2021, the District did not own any types of securities 

or investments. 

 

27



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

18 

 

 

II. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS 

 

b. Custodial Credit Risk for Deposits 

 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the government's deposits may 

not be returned to it.  The District's funds are required to be deposited and invested under the 

terms of a depository contract.  The District's deposits are required to be collateralized with 

securities held by the pledging financial institution's trust department or agent in the District's 

name.  The pledge of approved securities is waived only to the extent of the depository bank's 

dollar amount of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") Insurance.  At August 31, 

2022 and 2021, the District's bank deposits were fully insured by FDIC and pledged securities. 

 

B. Grants Receivable 
 

Grants receivable, due within one year for qualifying costs recorded in statements of net position, is 

comprised of the following: 
 

 August 31, 

Program 2022 2021 

CARES Funding $             4,400 $                      - 

Elderly  11,371 5,864 

RPT Federal 60,174             98,483             

RPT State 51,469 92,751 

MPT/Other 95,102 107,117 

Total $         222,516 $            304,215 
 

C. Unearned Revenue 
 

Unearned revenue as of August 31, 2022 consists of the following: 

Program Amounts 

AARP Grant Program $          20,369 

Total Unearned Revenue $          20,369 
 

28



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

19 

 

 

II. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 

 

D. Capital Assets 
 

Capital asset activity for the year ended August 31, 2022, was as follows: 

Balance Balance

September 1, August 31,

Governmental Activities 2021 Increases Decreases 2022

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 209,654$               -$                 -$                 209,654$            

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 209,654                 -                   -                   209,654              

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Building and improvements 1,701,476              63,665              -                   1,765,141           

Machinery, equipment and vehicles 3,606,465              253,079            -                   3,859,544           

Total capital assets, being depreciated 5,307,941              316,744            -                   5,624,685           

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Building and improvements (939,810)                (69,700)            -                   (1,009,510)         

Machinery, equipment and vehicles (1,307,793)             (488,753)          -                   (1,796,546)         

Total accumulated depreciation (2,247,603)             (558,453)          -                   (2,806,056)         

Total capital assets depreciated, net 3,060,338              (241,709)          -                   2,818,629           

Total capital assets, net 3,269,992$            (241,709)$        -$                 3,028,283$         

 
 

Capital asset activity for the year ended August 31, 2021, was as follows: 

 
Balance Balance

September 1, August 31,

Governmental Activities 2020 Increases Decreases 2021

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 209,654$               -$                 -$                 209,654$            

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 209,654                 -                   -                   209,654              

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Building and improvements 1,515,179              186,297            -                   1,701,476           

Machinery, equipment and vehicles 3,366,389              682,948            (442,872)          3,606,465           

Total capital assets, being depreciated 4,881,568              869,245            (442,872)          5,307,941           

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Building and improvements (875,959)                (63,851)            -                   (939,810)            

Machinery, equipment and vehicles (1,235,160)             (456,279)          383,646           (1,307,793)         

Total accumulated depreciation (2,111,119)             (520,130)          383,646           (2,247,603)         

Total capital assets depreciated, net 2,770,449              349,115            (59,226)            3,060,338           

Total capital assets, net 2,980,103$            349,115$          (59,226)$          3,269,992$         

 
 

29



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

20 

 

 

II. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 

 

D.   Right-to-Use Lease 
 

 On January 18, 2021, the District entered into a sixty-three-month lease agreement with Documation 

for the lease of 7 copy machines, that meet the definition of a “long-term” lease provided in GASB 

87. As such, a right-to-use lease liability is reported at the present value of payments expected to be 

made during the lease term.  The liability is reduced as payments are made and the lease asset is 

amortized based off a discount rate of 6.75%.  The lessee is required to make monthly payments in 

the amount of $1,010, plus applicable taxes, over the lease term.  Total principal payments made 

during the year was $8,394 and interest paid was $2,716. 
 

The right-to-use lease asset(s) and related accumulated amortization is as follows: 

 

  

September 1, 

2021 

 

 

Increases 

 

 

Decreases 

 

August 31, 

2022 

Right-to-Use Assets     

   Leased Copiers $                      - $           48,674 $                   - $         48,674 

     Total Right-to-Use Assets 

                                

- 

            

48,674 

                     

- 

            

48,674 

Less accumulated amortization for:     

   Leased Copiers $                      - $           10,430 $                   - $         10,430 

    Total accumulated Amortization 

                                

- 

            

10,430 

                      

- 

            

10,430 

Right-to-Use Assets, Net $                      - $           38,244 $                    - $         38,244 

 

E. Long-Term Liabilities 

 

The District’s liabilities consist of compensated absences and lease payable.  

 

Changes in Long-Term Liabilities 

 

A summary of long-term liabilities of the District for the year ended August 31, 2022 is as follows: 

 

  

September 1, 

2021 

 

Increases 

 

Decreases 

 

August 31, 

2022 

Compensated Absences $             56,710 $           64,750 $        (56,932) $          64,528 

Lease Payable                       -           48,674          (8,394)          40,280 

Total  $             56,710 $         113,424 $        (65,326) $        104,808 

 

30



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

21 

 

 

II. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 

 

 Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the lease liability is as follows: 

 

Year Ending August 31, Principal Interest Total 

2023 $                             9,713 $                      2,352 $                     12,065 

2024                           10,448                         1,672                        12,120 

2025                           11,175                            945                        12,120 

2026                             8,944                            201                          9,145 

 $                           40,280 $                      5,170 $                     45,450 

    
E. Risks Related to Grantor Concentration 

 

The District receives the majority of its support and revenue from the U. S. Department of 

Transportation and the Texas Department Transportation.  The District receives annual grants from 

these agencies and is required to prepare reports that detail the program expenses incurred for which 

the District is requesting reimbursement.  The District would realize a severe negative impact should 

the level of these grant revenues be significantly reduced or discontinued. 

 

F. Risk Management 

 

The District’s exposure to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of damage to and destruction of 

assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters is covered with commercial property, liability and 

automobile insurance.  There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage for these risks 

of loss since the prior year; and there have been no claims in excess of insurance coverage for any of 

the past three fiscal years. 

 

G. Line of Credit 

 

The District has an approved line of credit of $300,000 with TXN Bank. The per annum rate is 6.5%. 

There were no outstanding balances at August 31, 2022 or 2021, respectively. 

 

H. 401 (A) Employees Plan 

 

The District established a defined contribution pension plan for its employees effective January 1, 

2013.  The District acts as the plan administrator and is responsible for maintaining records on 

participants, determining eligibility for benefits and interpreting and administering the provisions of 

the plan.  The plan year begins on January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year. 

 

Participants are fully vested in their own contributions to the Plan.  Participants vesting in employer 

matching contributions are based on years of service.  Employees with less than two years of service 

are 0% vested, between two and three years are 50% vested, and three or more years are 100% vested. 

 

31



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Years Ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 

22 

 

 

II. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (Continued) 

 

The Plan is an annuity contract issued by an insurance company.  Earnings (gains and/or losses), 

changes, and expenses will be treated as provided for in the contract. 

 

Employee contributions made to the Plan for the year ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 were $20,549 

and $18,066, respectively.  Employer contributions were $56,331 in 2022 and $47,279 in 2021.  

Employee contributions were paid to OneAmerica as a matching contribution representing 100% of 

the first 5% of employee contributions to the plan.  

 

A group of annuity contract issued by an insurance company is the funding medium used for the 

accumulation of assets from which benefits are paid.  Earnings (gains and/or losses), changes, and 

expenses will be treated as provided for in the contract. 

 

I. Contingent Liabilities and Commitments 

 

Federal and state funding received related to various grant programs are based upon periodic reports 

detailing reimbursable expenses made, in compliance with program guidelines, to the grantor agency. 

These programs are governed by various statutory rules and regulations of the grantors.  Amounts 

received and receivable under these various funding programs are subject to periodic audit and 

adjustment by the funding agencies.  To the extent, if any, the District has not complied with all the 

rules and regulations, financial or otherwise, adjustment to or return of fund monies may be required. 

 

As it pertains to other matters of compliance, in the opinion of the District, there are no significant 

contingent liabilities relating to matters of compliance and accordingly, no provision has been made 

in the accompanying financial statements for such contingencies. 

 

J. IRS Lien 

 

The U.S Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has a tax lien on the property that was transferred from the 

Community Council of Southwest Texas Inc.  Management has been in communication with the IRS 

attempting to negotiate the clearing of the lien.  Management position is that this will be resolved in 

SWART’s favor. 

32



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

33



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT

Uvalde, Texas

SCHEDULE OF OPERATING PROGRAM EXPENSES BY FUND

For The Year Ended August 31, 2022

RPT Federal RPT State Transit Support Total

EXPENSES

         

5

SALARIES  $        723,634  $        358,986  $            346,805  $        1,429,425 

         

5

FRINGE BENEFITS            253,897            117,313                  98,383               469,593 

TOTAL PERSONNEL            977,531            476,299                445,188            1,899,018 

         

5

AUDIT FEES              31,680 -                  -                                      31,680 

CONSULTANTS              73,340 -                  -                                      73,340 

         

5

TRAVEL/MEETING              21,787              14,983                  29,074                 65,844 

         

5

TRAINING                7,632                5,553                    8,636                 21,821 

         

5

UTILITIES              34,842              18,347                  14,949                 68,138 

         

5

INSURANCE              68,312                7,287                    4,729                 80,328 

         

5

FUEL AND OIL            169,403              58,617                  62,608               290,628 

         

5

MAINTENANCE/REPAIR              40,768                3,278                  11,697                 55,743 

         

5

EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE -                  -                                   30,812                 30,812 

         

5

FEES/DUES                7,699                4,865                    7,035                 19,599 

         

5

RENTAL/LEASES              14,602                8,402                    5,253                 28,257 

         

5

SUPPLIES & UNIFORMS              17,663                9,523                  21,935                 49,121 

         

5

OFFICE EQUIP/FURNITURE                   184                   122                       102                      408 

         

5

MISCELLANEOUS                      -   -                                     7,859                   7,859 

         

5

VEHICLE PREVENTATIVE MAINT              45,775              12,105                    8,288                 66,168 

         

5

BLDG MAINT AND REPAIR              11,166                1,849                    1,341                 14,356 

         

5

AUTOMATION SERVICES              16,031                7,857                    4,502                 28,390 

         

5

HARDWARE ACQUISITION              72,190                   313                       261                 72,764 

         

5

SOFTWARE FEES              52,495                4,739                    3,442                 60,676 

         

5

MISC EQUIP ACQUISITION                8,988                     49                         25                   9,062 

         

5

RENOVATIONS              31,756 -                  -                                      31,756 

         

5

CAPITAL EQUIP & VEHICLES -                  -                  -                      -                     

      Total EXPENDITURESTOTAL TRANSPORTATION PROGRAMS         1,703,844            634,188                667,736            3,005,768 

         

5

DEPRECIATION            467,139 -                                   91,314               558,453 

AMORTIZATION                5,894 3,469                                 1,067                 10,430 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES  $     2,176,877  $        637,657  $            760,117  $        3,574,651 

 23

34



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FEDERAL AWARDS SECTION 
 

35



207 Arden Grove 
San Antonio, TX  78215 
210/227-1389 
Fax 227-0716 

Garza/Gonzalez & Associates 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN  

AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH  

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS  

 

To the Board of Directors 

Southwest Area Regional Transit District  

Uvalde, Texas 

 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 

and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 

Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities of the 

Southwest Area Regional Transit District (the District), as of and for the year ended August 31, 2022, and the 

related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements, 

and have issued our report thereon dated February 24, 2023.  

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal control 

over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 

or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 

misstatements, on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 

internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 

statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a 

deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, 

yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 

and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, 

significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 

internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses or significant 

deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

 

                    2436



25 

Purpose of This Report  

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 

and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control 

or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 

Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this 

communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 

February 24, 2023 

 

37



207 Arden Grove 
San Antonio, TX  78215 
210/227-1389 
Fax 227-0716 

Garza/Gonzalez & Associates 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM 

AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE  

 

To the Board of Directors  

Southwest Area Regional Transit District 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program  

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the Southwest Area Regional Transit District’s (the District) compliance with the types of 

compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a 

direct and material effect on each of the District’s major federal programs for the year ended August 31, 2022.  

The District’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 

accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  

In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 

referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year 

ended August 31, 2022. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 

States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States;  and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 

Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 

for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform 

Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our 

report. 

We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 

with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. 

Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the District’s compliance with the compliance requirements 

referred to above.  

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 

implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, 

statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the District’s federal 

programs. 

 

                    2638



 

27 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance 

requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the 

District’s compliance based on our audit.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 

assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted 

auditing standards,  Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material 

noncompliance when it exists.  The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is 

higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Noncompliance with the compliance requirements 

referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, 

it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the District’s 

compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 

Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include examining, on a 

test basis, evidence regarding the District’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred 

to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

• Obtain an understanding of the District’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on 

internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over compliance. 

Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 

control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance  

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 

compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 

functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 

program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility 

that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be 

prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over 

compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type 

of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control 

over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies 

in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 

control over compliance.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 

internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.  However, 

material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not 

identified.

39



 

28 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 

over compliance.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 

of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 

Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  

 

 

February 24, 2023  

 

40



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

 

For the Year Ended August 31, 2022 

29 

 

 

SECTION I --- SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 

 
 
Financial Statements 
 
 

 
Type of auditor’s report issued: 

 
Unmodified 

 
 

 
Internal control over financial reporting: 

• Material weakness(es) identified? 

 
 

         Yes 

 
 

   X   No 
 
 

 
• Significant deficiency(s) identified not considered 

to be material weaknesses? 

 
 

          Yes 

 
 

   X   None Reported 
 
 

 
 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? 

 
 

         Yes 

 
 

   X   No 

 
 
Federal Awards 
 
 

 
Internal control over major programs: 

▪ Material weakness(es) identified? 

 
 

         Yes 

 
 

   X   No 
 
 

 
▪ Significant deficiency(s) identified not considered 

to be material weaknesses? 

 
 

         Yes 

 
 

   X   None Reported 
 
 

 
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major 

 programs 

 
 

Unmodified 

 
 

 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be 

reported in accordance with 2 CFR, Section. 200.516(a)? 

 
 

         Yes 

 
 

   X   No 

 
 
Identification of Major Programs 
 
 

 
CFDA Numbers(s) 

 
Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

 
 

 

20.509 

 

Formula Grants for Rural Areas/CARES Act Rural Area Federal Formula 

Program 
 
 

 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B 

programs: 

 
 

$750,000 
 
 

 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? 

 
    X    Yes 

 
       No 

 

41



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

 

For the Year Ended August 31, 2022 

30 

 

 

SECTION II --- FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 

 

There were no financial statement findings required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing 

Standards. 

 

 

SECTION III --- FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

 

There were no federal award findings and questioned costs required to be reported by the Uniform Guidance 

Section 200.516(a). 

42



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT

Uvalde, Texas

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

For The Year Ended August 31, 2022

Assistance 

Listing 

Number

Pass-Through Entity

Identifying Number

 Federal 

Expenditures 

U.S. Department of Transportation

Passed Through Texas Department of Transportation

Section 5304 Federal - Planning 20.505 51008013021 81,771$               

Section 5304 Federal - Planning 20.505 51008013022 12,500                 

Total CFDA Number 20.505 94,271                 

Section 5311 Federal - Formula Grants for Rural Areas 20.509 51018013021 134,391               

Section 5311 Federal - Formula Grants for Rural Areas 20.509 51018013022 769,391               

Section 5311 Federal - Formula Grants for Rural Areas 20.509 51T18025122 14,137                 

Section 5311 Federal - Formula Grants for Rural Areas 20.509 51018023021 105,775               

Section 5311 Federal - Formula Grants for Rural Areas 20.509 51018023022 90,074                 

Section 5311 Federal - Formula Grants for Rural Areas 20.509 51018043022 95,421                 

Total Formula Grants for Rural Areas 1,209,189            

CARES Act - Section 5311 Federal - Formula Grants for Rural Areas 20.509 51018053021 207,107               

Total CFDA Number 20.509 1,416,296            

Section 5310 Federal - Enhanced Mobility of Seniors & Individuals With Disabilities 20.513 51016013022 196,000               

Section 5310 Federal - Enhanced Mobility of Seniors & Individuals With Disabilities 20.513 51016013021 57,079                 

Section 5310 Federal - Enhanced Mobility of Seniors & Individuals With Disabilities 20.513 51016023022 122,259               

Total CFDA Number 20.513 375,338               

Section 5339 Federal - Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program (Rural) 20.526 51003013020 463                      

Total CFDA Number 20.526 463                      

Total Passed Through Texas Department of Transportation 1,886,368            

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 1,886,368$          

Federal Grantor/

Pass-Through Grantor/ 

Program or Cluster Title

 31

43



32 

SOUTHWEST AREA REAGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

 

For The Year Ended August 31, 2022 

 

 

1. The District utilizes fund accounting for each of its grants.  A separate fund is maintained for each grant. 

 

Federal grant funds are considered to be earned to the extent of expenditures made under the provisions 

of the grant.  Amounts reported in the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are based on billed 

expenditures.  Difference between billed expenditures and actual expenditures consist of expenditures 

financed with program income and other local revenues. 

 

2. The District’s funds are accounted for using the full accrual basis of accounting. 

 

3. The District does not have any subrecipients. 

 

4. The District did not elect to use the 10% de minimus indirect cost rate provided for by the Uniform 

Guidance. 

 

5. During the year the District expended $68,120 and $572,946 through the Rural State Program (Project 

ID #51218013021 and ID # 51218013022, respectively).  Accordingly, these state expenditures were not 

included in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards; and, an audit in accordance with the State 

Single Audit Circular was not applicable. 

 

6. There were no outstanding loan guarantee programs during the year. 

44



SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

Uvalde, Texas 

 

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

 

For the Year Ended August 31, 2022 

 

 

33 

There were no prior audit findings reported. 

45



Procurements

46



Vehicle A/C Equipment

47



48



49



50



Revised Maintenance Plan

51



52



53



54



5310 Vehicles

55



56



57



58



59



60



Crystal City Facility Rehab

61



62



63



64



65



66



FY 2024 Section 5310 
Elderly/Disabled  Grant 
Application Summary

67



Southwest Area Regional Transit District 

Section 5310 Elderly & Disabled Application 

Funding Source: Texas Department of Transportation 

Timeframe:  FY 2024 and FY 2025 

Due Date:  March 17, 2023 

Service Area: Counties of Dimmit, Edwards, Kinney, La Salle, Maverick, Real, 
Uvalde, and Zavala  

Amount: Year 1 - $1,114,308 

Year 2 - $992,000   

Description: 

SWART proposes to apply for funding from three (3) TxDOT Districts which include 
San Antonio, San Angelo, and Laredo.  SWART proposes to utilize the funding for the 
following: 

Agency Name SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT
eGrants Application number

Short Description Urban/Rural District Year 1 Year 2 Subtotal
Hardware Rural San Antonio  67,700$  60,000$  127,700$                    
Software  Micro Transit Rural San Antonio  -$  55,000$  55,000$  
Mobility Management Rural San Antonio  140,000$                   143,000$                    283,000$                    
Mobility Management Rural Laredo  140,000$                   143,000$                    283,000$                    
Preventive Maintenance Rural San Antonio  12,000$  12,000$  24,000$  
Preventive Maintenance Rural San Angelo  6,000$  6,000$  12,000$  
Preventive Maintenance Rural Laredo  12,000$  12,000$  24,000$  
Replacement Vehicle (5) Rural San Antonio  630,000$                   526,000$                    1,156,000$                
Cameras - Facility Rural San Antonio  7,700$  -$  7,700$  
Sofware Annual Maint. Rural San Antonio  33,908$  35,000$  68,908$  
Safety & Security - Door Rural San Antonio  20,000$  -$  20,000$  
Software - Mobility Management Rural Laredo  45,000$  -$  45,000$  

total 1,114,308$                992,000$                    2,106,308$                

REVISED

SCook
Highlight



Partners In Transit, Inc. 
Corporate Minute Book

69



L & B 22363/0003/L2194100.DOCX/ 

PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC. 
a Texas nonprofit corporation 

March ____, 2023 

Corporate Minute Book 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

70



L & B 22363/0003/L2194100.DOCX/ 

CORPORATE MINUTE BOOK 
OF 

PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC., A TEXAS NONPROFIT CORPORATION 

Index of Documents 

1. Letter regarding formation of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC.

2. Consent to Serve as Registered Agent of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC.

3. Certificate of Formation of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC.

4. Certificate of Filing the Certificate of Formation of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC.

5. Bylaws of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC.

6. Minutes Organizational Meeting of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC.

7. Conflict Policy

8. Miscellaneous

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

71



 

L & B 22363/0003/L2194101.DOCX/2 1 

745 E. Mulberry Ave., Suite 700 • San Antonio, Texas 78212 • (210) 736-6600 

David R. Gard 
dgard@langleybanack.com 

March 9, 2023 

Partners In Transit, Inc.  
Attn: Sarah Hidalgo-Cook 
713 E. Main 
Uvalde, Texas 78801 

Re: Minute Book for Partners in Transit, Inc. (the “Corporation”)  

 

Dear Ms. Hidalgo-Cook: 

We deliver with this letter the corporate Minute Book for the new corporation known as Partners 
In Transit, Inc. You might consider keeping this letter with the Minute Book as a reminder of certain 
things that need to be attended to for the Corporation. 

I. ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS 

The following items should be seen to immediately, if they have not already been done: 

1. A bank account needs to be opened for the Corporation. A photocopy of the bank 
resolution, which the bank requires you to sign, should be filed in the corporate Minute Book. 

2. The Corporation must have a Federal Employer’s Identification Number, and that is 
obtained by applying to the Internal Revenue Service in Austin on IRS Form SS-4. Your accountant 
should see to this. 

3. An application for Recognition of Exemption under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code needs to be filed with the Internal Revenue Service.  

The scope of our representation is limited to the preparation of the corporate formation 
documents. We are not tax professionals, and we offer no advice related to state or federal tax 
exemptions. We advise you to seek further guidance from a licensed Certified Public Account regarding 
those matters. 

II. LIMITED LIABILITY 

The following matters require attention to assure that the new Corporation will always be treated 
as a Corporation and that you will enjoy the benefit of limited liability through the Corporation: 

1. The Board of Directors of the corporation should also meet from time to time to consider 
all major items of business or transactions under consideration by the Corporation. At a minimum, there 
should be an annual meeting of the Board of Directors, at which time directors and officers are elected or 
re-elected, financial statements of the Corporation for the previous year are reviewed and approved, and 
the major actions taken by the Corporation’s officers during the previous year are reviewed, approved, 
and ratified. You may also want to consider documenting any other items of major business concerning 
the Corporation. At least once per year, some evidence documenting the annual meeting of the Board of 
Directors should be placed into the Minute Book. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

72



 

L & B 22363/0003/L2194101.DOCX/2 2 

2. Always ensure, when acting for the Corporation, to show that you are acting for the 
Corporation and not on your own behalf. This applies to all officers of the Corporation as well. A proper 
way to sign for the Corporation is to put the Corporation’s name first, followed by the officer’s signature, 
followed by the officer’s printed name and office, as follows: 

 

PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC., a Texas 
nonprofit corporation 
 
By:  
Sarah Hidalgo-Cook, Executive Director 

 

PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC., a Texas 
nonprofit corporation 
 
By:  
Cynthia Z. Rodriguez, Deputy Director 

 

PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC., a Texas 
nonprofit corporation 
 
By:  
[OFFICER NAME], Secretary 

 
PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC., a Texas 
nonprofit corporation 
 
By:  
[OFFICER NAME], Chief Financial Officer 

 

and any other form of execution, purportedly on behalf of the Corporation, may be considered to 
be your personal undertaking or obligation. 

4. Never commingle your personal funds or finances with the funds or finances of the 
Corporation; that is, never pay corporate obligations with your personal funds without keeping 
accurate records and seeking reimbursement from the corporation, and never, under any 
circumstances, pay your personal obligations with corporate funds. 

5. Take every opportunity to put those the Corporation is dealing with and the general 
public on notice that your company is a corporation (which should provide you, personally, with a 
liability shield) as distinguished from a partnership or sole proprietorship (which would not provide you 
with a liability shield). You may do this in many ways but, at a minimum, you should always use the 
“Inc.” as part of the corporate name: that is, always state your corporate name orally and in writing as 
“PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC.” and not merely as “PARTNERS IN TRANSIT.” Use the name 
“PARTNERS IN IN TRANSIT, INC.” in as many places as possible, for example, on the corporate 
stationery, on your business cards, in the phone book, on all contracts, order forms, and other documents, 
on your office door or reception area, the sides of corporate vehicles, etc.  

III. REGISTERED AGENT 

As you know, SARAH HIDALGO-COOK is the registered agent for the Corporation, and the 
Corporation’s registered office is 713 E. Main, Uvalde, Texas 78801. As you also know, if a lawsuit is 
filed against the Corporation, the plaintiff will attempt to serve the Corporation with process by serving 
the registered agent with process on behalf of the Corporation at the registered address. If the registered 
agent cannot be found at the registered office after a reasonable number of attempts, the Corporation may 
be deemed served without actual notice of the lawsuit and a default judgment may be taken against the 
Corporation without the Corporation’s having had the opportunity to answer and defend the lawsuit. 
Therefore, it is extremely important that a Statement of Change of Registered Agent and/or Registered 
Office be filed with the Texas Secretary of State if the SARAH HIDALGO-COOK will no longer serve 
as the Corporation’s registered agent, or in the event that SARAH HIDALGO-COOK can no longer be 
located at the address listed with the Texas Secretary of State as that of the Corporation’s registered 
office.  

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

73



 

L & B 22363/0003/L2194101.DOCX/2 3 

This letter is not intended to cover all matters involving the formation of the Corporation and the 
maintenance of the corporate liability shield, but it is essential that the matters discussed herein be kept in 
mind. Please contact me if you have any questions, comments or concerns regarding the enclosures or if 
we may be of any further or additional service to the Corporation or you. 

Very truly yours, 

LANGLEY & BANACK, INCORPORATED 

 

 

By:  
David R. Gard, for the firm 

 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

74



L & B 22363/0003/L2194103.DOCX/  

CONSENT TO SERVE AS REGISTERED AGENT PURSUANT TO §5.201(b) OF 
THE TEXAS BUSINESS ORGANIZATIONS CODE 

 
 

I, SARAH HIDALGO-COOK, hereby acknowledge, accept, and consent to my 
being designated or appointed as registered agent in Texas for Partners in Transit, Inc., a 
proposed Texas nonprofit corporation. 

I am a resident of the State of Texas. My address is _________________________. 
I understand that it will be my responsibility to receive any process, notice, or demand that 
is served on me as the registered agent of Partners in Transit, Inc. and to forward any such 
process, notice, or demand to Partners in Transit, Inc. 

I will immediately notify Partners in Transit, Inc. and submit a statement of 
resignation to the Secretary of State of the State of Texas if I resign as the registered agent 
of Partners in Transit, Inc. 

EXECUTED to be effective as of the ____ day of ____________,______. 
 
 
 

  
SARAH HIDALGO-COOK 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

75



L & B 22363/0003/L2193988.DOCX/ 1 Certificate of Formation 

CERTIFICATE OF FORMATION 

OF  

PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC., A TEXAS NONPROFIT CORPORATION 

      

 

ARTICLE I  

NAME 

The name of the filing entity is Partners in Transit, Inc. (the “Corporation”) 

ARTICLE II  

ENTITY TYPE 

The filing entity being formed is a Texas nonprofit corporation. Upon dissolution, all of the 
remaining assets of the Corporation shall be distributed only for tax-exempt purposes to one or more 
organizations that are exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code or described by 
Sections 170(c)(1) or (2) of the Internal Revenue Code or to the Blanco, Texas, a local government, under 
a plan of distribution adopted under the Texas Business Organizations Code. 

ARTICLE III  

DURATION 

The period of its duration is perpetual. 

ARTICLE IV  

PURPOSE 

The Corporation is organized and will operate solely for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, or 
educational purposes, or to foster national or international amateur sports competition (but only if no part 
of its activities involve the provision of athletic facilities or equipment), or for the prevention of cruelty to 
children or animals exclusively within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) to: enhance 
public transportations services within the Middle Rio Grande Region for individuals having special needs 
who depend on public transit as a means of participating in, and engaging in commerce within, their 
communities; such mission to be accomplished through raising funds made available by public and private 
grants and donations which will be contributed to Rural Transit Districts organized under the Texas 
Transportation Code Title 6, Subtitle k whose mission is in support of, and furthers, this objective. 

The corporation is empowered to solicit, obtain, accept, and receive grants, gifts, donations, 
legacies, and contributions for its charitable purposes. The Corporation is empowered to solicit, obtain, 
accept and receive gifts, donations, legacies and contributions covering both real property and personal 
property, for the endowment of the Corporation and for its operations; to execute any and all contracts for 
the essential needs of the Corporation and for the purpose of carrying out its objects and purposes; and to 
do all other lawful acts necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes; provided, however, that the 
Corporation shall take no action inconsistent with the provisions of the Texas Business Organizations Code 
pertaining to Texas nonprofit corporations, as may be amended from time to time. 

ARTICLE V  

RESTRICTIONS AND REQUIREMENTS 

5.01 The Corporation may not take any action prohibited by the Texas Business Organizations 
Code. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

76



L & B 22363/0003/L2193988.DOCX/ 2 Certificate of Formation 

5.02 The Corporation may not take any action that would be inconsistent with the requirements 
for a tax exemption under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) and related regulations, rulings, and 
procedures. Nor may it take any action that would be inconsistent with the requirements for receiving tax-
deductible charitable contributions under Internal Revenue Code Section 170(c)(2) and related regulations, 
rulings, and procedures. Regardless of any other provision in this Certificate of Formation or state law, the 
Corporation may not:  

(a) Engage in activities or use its assets in manners that do not further one or more 
exempt purposes, as set forth in this Certificate and defined by the Internal Revenue Code and 
related regulations, rulings, and procedures, except to an insubstantial degree.  

(b) Serve a private interest other than one clearly incidental to an overriding public 
interest.  

(c) Devote more than an insubstantial part of its activities to attempting to influence 
legislation by propaganda or otherwise, except as provided by the Internal Revenue Code and 
related regulations, rulings, and procedures.  

(d) Participate in or intervene in any political campaign on behalf of or in opposition 
to any candidate for public office. The prohibited activities include publishing or distributing 
statements and any other direct or indirect campaign activities.  

(e) Have objectives characterizing it as an “action organization” as defined by the 
Internal Revenue Code and related regulations, rulings, and procedures.  

(f) Permit any part of the Corporation's net earnings to inure to the benefit of any 
private shareholder or member of the Corporation or any private individual.  

(g) Carry on an unrelated trade or business, except as a secondary purpose related to 
the Corporation's primary, exempt purposes.  

(h) Provide commercial-type insurance. 

5.03 In addition, the Corporation shall make distributions at such times and in such manners as 
to avoid tax under Internal Revenue Code Section 4942. The Corporation may not: 

(a) Engage in any act of self-dealing as defined in Internal Revenue Code Section 
4941(d). 

(b) Retain excess business holdings as defined in Internal Revenue Code Section 
4943(c). 

(c) Make any investments that would subject it to the tax described in Internal 
Revenue Code Section 4944. 

(d) Make any taxable expenditure as defined in Internal Revenue Code Section 
4945(e). 

ARTICLE VI  

REGISTERED OFFICE AND REGISTERED AGENT 

The street address of the initial registered office of the Corporation is 713 E. Main, Uvalde, Texas 
78801, and the name of its initial registered agent at such address is Sarah Hidalgo-Cook.  

ARTICLE VII  

INITIAL MAILING ADDRESS 

The initial mailing address of the Corporation is 713 E. Main, Uvalde, Texas 78801. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

77



L & B 22363/0003/L2193988.DOCX/ 3 Certificate of Formation 

ARTICLE VIII 

DIRECTORS 

8.01 The number of Directors constituting the initial Board of Directors of the corporation is 
eight (8), and the names and addresses of the persons who are to serve as initial Directors are as follows: 

 

NAME ADDRESS 

Judge Martha Alicia Ponce 212 N. 4th Street 
 Carrizo Springs, Texas 78834 

Judge Souli Shanklin P. O. Box 348 
 Rocksprings, Texas 78880 

Judge John Paul Schuster P.O. Box 348 
 Brackettville, TX 78832 

Judge Leodoro Martinez, III 101 Courthouse Square Suite #315 
 Cotulla, Texas 78014 

Judge Ramsey English Cantu 500 Quarry Street, Suite 3 
 Eagle Pass, Texas 78852 

Judge Bella Rubio P.O. Box 446, 
 Leakey, Texas 78873 

Judge Bill Mitchell Courthouse Plaza, Box 3 
 Uvalde, Texas 78801 

Judge Cynthia Martinez-Rivera 200 E. Uvalde Street, Suite 9 
 Crystal City, Texas 78801 

8.02 The number of Directors may be changed from time to time by action of the Board of 
Directors; provided, however, that the number of Directors shall not be less than three (3). 

ARTICLE IX  

MANAGEMENT 

The Corporation shall have no voting members, and the management of the affairs of the 
Corporation shall be vested solely in the Board of Directors of the Corporation 

ARTICLE X  

INCORPORATOR 

The name and address of the Corporation’s incorporator are Sarah Hidalgo-Cook.  

ARTICLE XI  

EARNINGS 

No part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to its 
members, if any, Directors, Officers, or other private persons, except that the Corporation shall be 
authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments 
and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in ARTICLE IV. Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Certificate of Formation, the Corporation shall not carry on any activities not permitted to 
be carried on by a Texas nonprofit corporation. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

78



L & B 22363/0003/L2193988.DOCX/ 4 Certificate of Formation 

ARTICLE XII  

TERMINATION 

Upon termination of the Corporation, the Board of Directors shall, after paying or making provision 
for the payment of all of the liabilities and obligations of the Corporation, dispose of all of the assets of the 
Corporation in such manner, consistent with the purposes of the Corporation,  as the Board of Directors 
shall determine, or to such organization (or organizations) organized and operated as a Texas nonprofit 
Corporation whose goals are consistent with the goals of the Corporation, as the Board of Directors shall 
determine. Any such assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by the State District Court of the county 
in which the principal office of the Corporation is then located, exclusively for such purposes, or to such 
organization (or organizations) as said Court shall determine, which are organized and operated as a Texas 
nonprofit Corporation whose goals are consistent with the goals of the Corporation. 

ARTICLE XIII  

INDEMNITY 

The Corporation shall indemnify all of its past, present, and future Officers and Directors to the 
greatest extent legally permissible under the Texas Business Organizations Code, as the same may be 
amended from time to time (the “Statute”). The Corporation shall also pay (in advance, if permissible under 
the Statute) all proceeding-related expenses incurred by any past, present, or future Officer or Director of 
the Corporation to the greatest extent legally permissible under the Statute. No past, present, or future 
Director of the Corporation shall be liable to the Corporation for monetary damages for any acts taken or 
omissions made in such Director’s capacity as a Director, except to the extent that this exemption is limited 
by the Statute. 

[Signature Page Follows] 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

79



L & B 22363/0003/L2193988.DOCX/ 5 Certificate of Formation 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate of Formation effective as 
of the _____ day of __________, ________. 

Sarah Hidalgo-Cook, Incorporator 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

80



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 1 Bylaws 

BYLAWS 
OF  

PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC., A TEXAS NONPROFIT CORPORATION 

      
ARTICLE I  
OFFICES 

1.01 Principal Office. The Corporation’s principal office in Texas will be located at 
__________________________. The Corporation may have such other offices, in Texas or 
elsewhere, as the Board of Directors (the “Board”) may determine. The Board may change the 
location of any office of the Corporation. 

1.02 Registered Office and Registered Agent. The Corporation will maintain a 
registered office and registered agent in Texas. The registered office may, but need not, be identical 
with the Corporation’s principal office in Texas. The Board may change the registered office and 
the registered agent as permitted in the Texas Business Organizations Code (“TBOC”). 

ARTICLE II  
PURPOSE 

2.01 Purpose. The broad purpose of the Corporation is set forth in Article IV of the 
Corporation’s Certificate of Formation. The Corporation shall be operated exclusively for the 
charitable, educational, scientific, or literary purposes, within the meaning of Internal Revenue 
Code § 501 (c)(3) or a corresponding section of any future federal tax code, including, for such 
purposes, the making of distributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under 
Section 501 (c)(3). More particularly, the purposes of the Corporation are as follows: to enhance 
public transportations services within the Middle Rio Grande Region for individuals having special 
needs who depend on public transit as a means of participating in, and engaging in commerce 
within, their communities; through raising funds made available by public and private grants and 
donations which will be contributed to Rural Transit Districts organized under the Texas 
Transportation Code Title 6, Subtitle k whose mission is in support of, and furthers, this objective.  

ARTICLE III  
MEMBERS 

3.01 Members. The Corporation shall be a non-member organization. 
ARTICLE IV 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
4.01 Management of Corporation. The Board is vested with the management of the 

business and property of the Corporation subject to the TBOC and laws of the state of Texas, the 
Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation, as it may be amended or revised from time to time, and 
these Bylaws. The Board, through its Directors and Officers, may exercise all powers of the 
Corporation. 

4.02 Number and Tenure of Directors. The initial number of Directors shall be 
______; provided, however, that the Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

81



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 2 Bylaws 

increase or decrease its number from time to time, to any number equal to or greater than three (3). 
The term of the Directors shall be for a one-year term. There shall be no limit on the number of 
consecutive terms a Director may serve. The Board of Directors shall also have the power and 
authority to appoint non-voting Advisory Directors, at the Board's discretion. 

4.03 Minimum Qualifications. To be eligible to serve as a Director of the Corporation, 
each Director shall be a resident of at least one of the counties served by the Corporation. 

4.04 Nominating Directors. At any meeting at which Directors are elected, a Director 
may nominate a person to serve as a Director with the second of any other Director. 

4.05 Electing Directors. A person who meets the qualifications for Director and who 
has been duly nominated may be elected as a Director. Directors will be elected by the vote of the 
Board. Each Director will hold office until a qualified successor is elected. A Director may be 
elected to succeed himself or herself as Director. 

4.06 Vacancies. The Board will fill any vacancy in the Board and any Director position 
to be filled due to an increase in the number of Directors. A vacancy is filled by the affirmative 
vote of a majority of the remaining Directors, even if it is less than a quorum of the Board, or if it 
is a sole remaining Director. A Director selected to fill a vacancy will serve for the unexpired term 
of his or her predecessor in office. 

4.07 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the Board may be held without notice 
other than the meeting approving and adopting these Bylaws. Beginning in June 2023, the annual 
Board meeting will be held at 1:00 p.m. on the third Wednesday of June of each year unless another 
date and time is designated by the Board. The annual meeting will be held at the corporation’s 
registered office in Texas or at such other place designated by the Board. If the date, time, or place 
of the annual meeting is other than at 1:00 p.m. on the third Wednesday of June at the Corporation’s 
registered office in Texas, then notice of the date, time, and place of the annual meeting shall be 
given to each director not less than seven (7) nor more than thirty (30) days prior to the meeting. 

4.08 Regular Meetings. The Board may provide for regular meetings by resolution 
stating the date, time, and place of such meetings. The meetings may be held within or outside the 
State of Texas, and will be held at the Corporation’s registered office in Texas if the resolution 
does not specify the location of the meetings. No notice of regular Board meetings is required other 
than a Board resolution stating the date, time, and place of the meetings. 

4.09 Special Meetings. Special Board meetings may be called by, or at the request of, 
the Executive Director or any three (3) Directors. A person or persons authorized to call special 
meetings of the Board may fix any place within or outside the State of Texas as the place for 
holding a special meeting. The person or persons calling a special meeting will inform the 
Secretary of the Corporation of the information to be included in the notice of the meeting. The 
Secretary of the Corporation will give notice to the Directors as these Bylaws require. 

4.10 Notice of Special Meetings. Written or printed notice of any special meeting of the 
Board will be delivered to each Director not less than three (3), nor more than thirty (30) days 
before the date of the meeting. The notice will state the place, date, and time of the meeting; who 
called it; and the purpose or purposes for which it is called. If the meeting is to be held by telephone 
conference or video conference, the notice must so state. 

4.11 Quorum. A majority of the number of Directors then in office constitutes a quorum 
for transacting business at any Board meeting. The Directors present at a duly called or held 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

82



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 3 Bylaws 

meeting at which a quorum is present may continue to transact business even if enough Directors 
leave the meeting so that less than a quorum remains. However, no action may be approved without 
the vote of at least a majority of the number of Directors required for a quorum. If a quorum is 
never present at any time during a meeting, a majority of the Directors present may adjourn and 
reconvene the meeting once without further notice. 

4.12 Duties of Directors. Directors will discharge their duties, including any duties as 
committee members, in good faith, with ordinary care, and in a manner they reasonably believe to 
be in the Corporation’s best interest. In this context, the term “ordinary care” means the care that 
ordinarily prudent persons in similar positions would exercise under similar circumstances. In 
discharging any duty imposed or power conferred on Directors, Directors may, in good faith, rely 
on information, opinions, reports, or statements, including financial statements and other financial 
data, concerning the Corporation or another person that has been prepared or presented by a variety 
of persons, including Officers and employees of the Corporation and professional advisors or 
experts such as accountants or legal counsel. A Director is not relying in good faith if he or she 
has knowledge concerning a matter in question that renders reliance unwarranted. 

Directors are not deemed to have the duties of trustees of a trust with respect to the 
Corporation or with respect to any property held or administered by the Corporation, including 
property that may be subject to restrictions imposed by the donor or transferor of the property. 

4.13 Duty to Avoid Improper Distributions. Directors who vote for or assent to 
improper distributions are jointly and severally liable to the Corporation for the value of 
improperly distributed assets, to the extent that, as a result of the improper distribution or 
distributions, the corporation lacks sufficient assets to pay its debts, obligations, and liabilities. 
Any distribution made when the Corporation is insolvent, other than in payment of corporate debts, 
or any distribution that would render the Corporation insolvent, is an improper distribution. A 
distribution made during liquidation without payment and discharge of or provision for payment 
and discharge of all known debts, obligations, and liabilities is also improper. Directors present at 
a Board meeting at which the improper action is taken are presumed to have assented, unless they 
dissent in writing. The written dissent must be filed with the secretary of the Corporation before 
adjournment of the meeting in question or mailed to the secretary by certified mail immediately 
after adjournment. 

A Director is not liable if, in voting for or assenting to a distribution, the Director (1) relies 
in good faith and with ordinary care on information, opinions, reports, or statements, including 
financial statements and other financial data, prepared or presented by one or more Officers or 
employees of the Corporation; legal counsel, public accountants, or other persons as to matters the 
Director reasonably believes are within the person’s professional or expert competence; or a 
committee of the Board of which the Director is not a member; (2) while acting in good faith and 
with ordinary care, considers the Corporation’s assets to be at least that of their book value; or (3) 
in determining whether the Corporation made adequate provision for paying, satisfying, or 
discharging all of its liabilities and obligations, relied in good faith and with ordinary care on 
financial statements or other information concerning a person who was or became contractually 
obligated to satisfy or discharge some or all of these liabilities or obligations. Furthermore, 
Directors are protected from liability if, in exercising ordinary care, they acted in good faith and 
in reliance on the written opinion of an attorney for the Corporation. 

Directors held liable for an improper distribution are entitled to contribution from persons 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

83



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 4 Bylaws 

who accepted or received the improper distributions knowing they were improper. Contribution is 
in proportion to the amount received by each such person. 

4.14 Delegating Duties. Directors may select advisors and delegate duties and 
responsibilities to them, such as the full power to buy or otherwise acquire investments on the 
Corporation’s behalf and to sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of the Corporation’s assets and 
properties at a time and for a consideration that the advisor deems appropriate. Directors have no 
liability for actions taken or omitted by the advisor if the Board acts in good faith and with ordinary 
care in selecting the advisor. The Board may remove or replace the advisor at any time and without 
any cause whatsoever. 

4.15 Interested Directors. Contracts or transactions among Directors, Officers, or 
employees who have a financial interest in the matter are not void or voidable solely for that reason. 
Nor are they void or voidable solely because the Director, Officer, or employee is present at or 
participates in the meeting that authorizes the contract or transaction or solely because the 
interested party’s votes are counted for the purpose. However, every Director with any personal 
interest in the transaction must disclose all material facts concerning the transaction, including all 
potential personal benefit and potential conflicts of interest, to the other members of the Board or 
other group authorizing the transaction. The transaction must be approved by a majority of the 
uninterested Directors or other group with the authority to authorize the transaction. 

4.16 Actions of Board of Directors. The Board will try to act by consensus. However, 
if a consensus is not available, the vote of a majority of Directors present and voting at a meeting 
at which a quorum is present is enough to constitute the act of the Board, unless the act of a greater 
number is required by law or by some other provision of these Bylaws. A Director who is present 
at a meeting and abstains from a vote is not considered to be present and voting for the purpose of 
determining the Board’s decision. For the purpose of determining the decision of the Board, a 
Director who is represented by proxy in a vote is considered present. 

4.17 Proxies. A Director may vote by proxy. All proxies must be in writing, must bear 
the signature of the Director giving the proxy, and must bear the date on which the proxy was 
executed by the Director. No proxy is valid after three (3) months from the date of its execution. 
Directors present by proxy may not be counted toward a quorum. 

4.18 Compensation. The Board may adopt a resolution providing for reimbursing 
Directors for actual expenses incurred in order to attend a Board meeting. A Director may serve 
the Corporation in any other capacity and receive compensation for those services. Any 
compensation that the Corporation pays to a Director must be reasonable and commensurate with 
the services performed. 

4.19 Removing Directors. The Board may vote to remove a Director at any time, 
without cause. A meeting to consider removing a Director may be called and noticed following 
the procedures provided in these Bylaws for a special meeting of the Board of Directors of the 
corporation. The notice of the meeting will state that the issue of possibly removing the Director 
will be on the agenda. 

ARTICLE V  
OFFICERS 

5.01 Officer Positions. The Corporation’s Officers will be an Executive Director, one 
or more Deputy Directors, a Secretary, and a Chief Financial Officer. The Board may create 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

84



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 5 Bylaws 

additional Officer positions (including, without limitation, other Deputy Directors and an Assistant 
Secretary), define the authority and duties of each such position, and elect or appoint persons to 
fill the positions. The same person may hold any two or more offices, except for Executive Director 
and Secretary. Officers need not be members of the Board. 

5.02 Election and Term of Office. The Corporation’s Officers will be elected annually 
by the Board at the annual Board meeting. If Officers are not elected at such meeting, they will be 
elected as soon thereafter as possible. 

Each Officer will hold office until a successor is duly selected and qualifies. An Officer 
may be elected to succeed himself or herself in the same office. 

5.03 Removal. Any Officer elected or appointed by the Board may be removed by the 
Board with or without good cause. Removing an Officer will be without prejudice to the Officer’s 
contractual rights, if any. 

5.04 Vacancies. The Board may select a person to fill a vacancy in any office for the 
unexpired portion of the Officer’s term. 

5.05 Executive Director. The Executive Director is the Corporation’s Chief Executive 
Officer. The Executive Director will supervise and control all of the Corporation’s business and 
affairs and will preside at all meetings of the Board. The Executive Director may execute any 
deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments that the Board authorizes to be executed. 
The Executive Director will perform other duties prescribed by the Board and all duties incident 
to the office of Executive Director. 

5.06 Deputy Director. When the Executive Director is absent, cannot act, or refuses to 
act, a Deputy Director will perform the Executive Director’s duties. When acting in the Executive 
Director’s place, the Deputy Director shall have all the powers of, and shall be subject to all 
restrictions of, the Executive Director. If there is more than one Deputy Director, the Deputy 
Directors will act for the Executive Director in the order designated in the document evidencing 
the action of the Board of Directors to elect Officers. A Deputy Director will perform other duties 
as assigned by the Executive Director or Board. 

5.07 Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer will: 
(a) Have charge and custody of, and be responsible for, all the Corporation’s 

funds and securities. 
(b) Receive and give receipts for monies due and payable to the Corporation 

from any source. 
(c) deposit all monies in the Corporation’s name in banks, trust companies, or 

other depositaries as these Bylaws provide or as the Board or Executive Director directs. 
(d) Write checks and disburse funds to discharge the Corporation’s obligations. 
(e) Maintain the Corporation’s financial books and records. 
(f) Prepare financial reports at least annually. 
(g) Perform other duties as assigned by the Executive Director or the Board. 
(h) If the Board requires, give a bond for faithfully discharging his or her duties 

in a sum and with a surety as determined by the Board. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

85



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 6 Bylaws 

(i) Perform all duties incident to the office of Chief Financial Officer or Deputy 
Finance Director. 
5.08 Secretary. The Secretary (or Assistant Secretary) will: 

(a) Give all notices as provided in the Bylaws or as required by law. 
(b) Take minutes of the meetings of the Board and keep the minutes as part of 

the corporate records. 
(c) Maintain custody of the corporate records and seal. 
(d) Affix the corporate seal to all documents as authorized. 
(e) Keep a register of the mailing address of each Director, Officer, and 

employee of the Corporation. 
(f) Perform duties as assigned by the Executive Director or the Board. 
(g) Perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary or Assistant Secretary. 

5.09 No Fiduciary Duties. The Directors and Officers of the Corporation shall be bound 
to exercise commercially reasonable judgment in carrying out their duties, making decisions, or 
taking action on behalf of the Corporation. No Director or Officer shall owe any fiduciary duty or 
duties to the Corporation. 

ARTICLE VI  
COMMITTEES 

6.01 Establishing Committees. The Board may adopt a resolution establishing one or 
more committees delegating specified authority to a committee, and appointing or removing 
members of a committee. A committee will include one (1) or more Directors and may include 
persons who are not Directors. If the Board delegates any of its management authority to a 
committee, the majority of the members of that committee will consist of Directors. The Board 
may also delegate to the Executive Director its power to appoint and remove members of a 
committee that has not been delegated any management authority of the Board. The Board may 
establish qualifications for membership on a committee. 

Establishing a committee or delegating authority to it will not relieve the Board, or any 
individual Director, of any responsibility imposed by these Bylaws or otherwise imposed by law. 
No committee has the authority of the Board to: 

(a) Amend the Certificate of Formation. 
(b) Adopt a plan of merger or of consolidation with another corporation. 
(c) Authorize the sale, lease, exchange, or mortgage of all or substantially all 

of the Corporation’s property and assets. 
(d) Authorize voluntary dissolution of the Corporation. 
(e) Revoke proceedings for voluntary dissolution of the Corporation. 
(f) Adopt a plan for distributing the Corporation’s assets. 
(g) Amend, alter, or repeal these Bylaws. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

86



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 7 Bylaws 

(h) Elect, appoint, or remove a member of a committee or a Director or Officer 
of the Corporation. 

(i) Approve any transaction to which the Corporation is a party and that 
involves a potential conflict of interest as defined in Section 7.01 below. 

(j) Take any action outside the scope of authority delegated to it by the Board. 
6.02 Term of Office. Each committee member will continue to serve on the committee 

until the next annual Board meeting and until a successor is appointed. However, a committee 
member’s term may terminate earlier if the committee is terminated or if the member dies, ceases 
to qualify, resigns, or is removed as a member. A vacancy on a committee may be filled by an 
appointment made in the same manner as an original appointment. A person appointed to fill a 
vacancy on a committee will serve for the unexpired portion of the terminated committee 
member’s term. 

6.03 Chair and Vice Chair. One member of each committee will be designated as the 
committee Chair, and another member of each committee will be designated as the Vice Chair. 
The Chair and Vice Chair will be appointed by the Executive Director of the Corporation. The 
Chair will call and preside at all meetings of the committee. When the Chair is absent, cannot act, 
or refuses to act, the Vice Chair will perform the Chair’s duties. When a Vice Chair acts for the 
Chair, the Vice Chair has all the powers of and is subject to all restrictions on the Chair. 

6.04 Notice of Meetings. Written or printed notice of a committee meeting will be 
delivered to each member of a committee not less than seven (7) nor more than thirty (30) days 
before the date of the meeting. The notice will state the place, day, and time of the meeting, and 
the purpose or purposes for which it is called. 

6.05 Quorum. A majority of the number of committee members constitutes a quorum 
for transacting business at any meeting of the committee. The committee members present at a 
duly called or held meeting at which a quorum is present may continue to transact business even 
if enough committee members leave the meeting so that less than a quorum remains. However, no 
action may be approved without the vote of at least a majority of the number of committee 
members required for a quorum. If a quorum is never present at any time during a meeting, the 
Chair may adjourn and reconvene the meeting once without further notice. 

6.06 Actions of Committees. Committees will try to take action by consensus. 
However, if a consensus is not available, the vote of a majority of committee members present and 
voting at a meeting at which a quorum is present is enough to constitute the act of the committee 
unless the act of a greater number is required by statute or by some other provision of these Bylaws. 
A committee member who is present at a meeting and abstains from a vote is not considered to be 
present and voting for the purpose of determining the act of the Committee.  

6.07 Proxies. A committee member may not vote by proxy. 
6.08 Compensation. Committee members shall not receive salaries for their service on 

a committee. The Board may adopt a resolution providing for reimbursing committee members for 
actual expenses incurred in order to attend a meeting of the committee. A committee member may 
serve the Corporation in any other capacity and receive compensation for those services.  

6.09 Rules. Each committee may adopt its own rules, provided that such rules are 
consistent with these Bylaws and with other rules that may be adopted by the Board. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

87



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 8 Bylaws 

ARTICLE VII  
TRANSACTIONS OF CORPORATION 

7.01 Contracts. The Board may authorize any Officer or agent of the Corporation, in 
addition to those Officers authorized hereby, to enter into a contract or execute and deliver any 
instrument in the name of, and on behalf of, the Corporation. This authority may be limited to a 
specific contract or instrument, or it may extend to any number and type of possible contracts and 
instruments. 

7.02 Deposits. All of the Corporation’s funds will be deposited to the credit of the 
Corporation in banks, trust companies, or other depositaries that the Board selects. 

7.03 Checks and Drafts. All checks, drafts, or orders for the payment of money, notes, 
or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation shall be signed by such 
Officer or Officers, agent or agents of the Corporation and in such manner as shall from time to 
time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors. In the absence of such determination 
by the Board of Directors, such instruments shall be signed by the Chief Financial Officer or a 
Deputy Finance Director and countersigned by the Executive Director, or a Deputy Director of the 
Corporation. 

7.04 Gifts. The Executive Director or the Board may accept, on the Corporation’s 
behalf, any contribution, gift, bequest, or devise for the general purposes or for any special purpose 
of the Corporation. The Executive Director or the Board, on behalf the Corporation, may make 
gifts and give charitable contributions not prohibited by these Bylaws, the Certificate of Formation, 
state law, and provisions set out in federal tax law that must be complied with to maintain the 
Corporation’s federal and state tax status. 

7.05 Conflicts of Interest. A member of the Board of Directors shall disclose the 
existence of any financial interest of the Board member in a transaction involving the Corporation 
but shall thereafter not participate in the discussion or vote on the transaction or on any matter in 
which the Board member has a direct or indirect financial interest. By the affirmative vote of the 
majority of disinterested members of the Board of Directors, even if less than a quorum, the Board 
of Directors may approve a transaction in which a member of the Board of Directors has a financial 
interest only if the material facts of the transaction and of the financial interest of the member of 
the Board of Directors are disclosed and if the members of the Board approving the transaction in 
good faith and with ordinary care reasonably believe that the transaction is fair to the Corporation. 
The Board of Directors may adopt a Conflict of Interest Policy not inconsistent with this Section 
7.05. 

7.06 Prohibited Acts. As long as the Corporation exists, and except with the Board’s 
prior approval, no Director, Officer, or committee member of the Corporation may: 

(a) Do any act in violation of these Bylaws or a binding obligation of the 
Corporation. 

(b) Do any act with the intention of harming the Corporation or any of its 
operations. 

(c) Do any act that would make it impossible or unnecessarily difficult to carry 
on the Corporation’s intended or ordinary business. 

(d) Receive an improper personal benefit from the operation of the Corporation. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

88



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 9 Bylaws 

(e) Use the Corporation’s assets, directly or indirectly, for any purpose other 
than carrying on the Corporation’s business. 

(f) Wrongfully transfer or dispose of Corporation property, including 
intangible property such as good will. 

(g) Use the Corporation’s name (or any substantially similar name) or any 
trademark or trade name adopted by the Corporation, except on behalf of the Corporation 
in the ordinary course of its business. 

(h) Disclose any of the Corporation’s business practices, trade secrets, or any 
other information not generally known to the business community to any person not 
authorized to receive it. 

ARTICLE VIII  
BOOKS AND RECORDS 

8.01 Required Books and Records. The Corporation will keep correct and complete 
books and records of account. The books and records include: 

(a) File-marked copies of all documents filed with the Texas Secretary of State 
relating to the Corporation, including but not limited to the Certificate of Formation and 
any Certificate of Amendment, Restated Certificate, and Statements of Change of 
Registered Office or Registered Agent. 

(b) A copy of all bylaws, including these Bylaws, and any amended versions or 
amendments to them. 

(c) Minutes of the proceedings of the Board and committees having any of the 
authority of the Board. 

(d) A list of the names and addresses of the Directors, Officers, and any 
committee members of the Corporation. 

(e) A financial statement showing the Corporation’s assets, liabilities, and net 
worth at the end of the three most recent fiscal years. 

(f) A financial statement showing the Corporation’s income and expenses for 
the three most recent fiscal years. 

(g) All rulings, letters, and other documents relating to the Corporation’s 
federal, state, and local tax status. 

(h) The Corporation’s federal, state, and local tax information tax returns for 
each of the Corporation’s three most recent tax years. 

ARTICLE IX  
INDEMNIFICATION 

9.01 When Indemnification is Required, Permitted, and Prohibited. 
(a) The Corporation shall indemnify a Director, Officer, committee member, 

employee, or agent of the Corporation who was, is, or may be named defendant or 
respondent in any proceeding as a result of his or her actions or omissions within the scope 
of his or her official capacity in the Corporation. For the purposes of this article, an agent 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

89



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 10 Bylaws 

includes one who is or was serving at the Corporation’s request as a Director, Officer, 
partner, venturer, proprietor, trustee, partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, trust, 
employee-benefit plan, or other enterprise. 

(b) The Corporation shall indemnify a person only if he or she acted in good 
faith and reasonably believed that his or her conduct was in the Corporation’s best interests. 
In case of a criminal proceeding, the person may be indemnified only if he or she had no 
reasonable cause to believe that the conduct was unlawful. The Corporation will not 
indemnify a person who is found liable to the Corporation or is found liable to another on 
the basis of improperly receiving a personal benefit from the Corporation. A person is 
conclusively considered to have been found liable in relation to any claim, issue, or matter 
if the person has been adjudged liable by a court of competent jurisdiction and all appeals 
have been exhausted. Termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, 
conviction, or a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent does not necessarily preclude 
indemnification by the Corporation. 

(c) The Corporation shall pay or reimburse expenses incurred by a Director, 
Officer, committee member, employee, or agent of the Corporation in connection with the 
person’s appearance as a witness or other participation in a proceeding involving or 
affecting the Corporation when the person is not a named defendant or respondent in the 
proceeding. 

(d) In addition to the situations otherwise described in this paragraph, the 
Corporation may indemnify a Director, Officer, committee member, employee, or agent of 
the Corporation to the extent permitted by law. However, the Corporation shall not 
indemnify any person in any situation in which indemnification is prohibited by applicable 
law or these Bylaws. 

(e) The Corporation may advance expenses incurred or to be incurred in the 
defense of a proceeding to a person who might be eventually be entitled to indemnification, 
even though there has been no final disposition of the proceeding. Advancement of 
expenses may occur only when the procedural conditions specified in Section 9.03(c) have 
been satisfied. Furthermore, the Corporation will never advance expenses to a person 
before final disposition of a proceeding if the person is a named defendant or respondent 
in a proceeding brought by the Corporation or if the person is alleged to have improperly 
received a personal benefit or committed other willful or intentional misconduct. 
9.02 Extent and Nature of Indemnity. The indemnity permitted under these Bylaws 

includes indemnity against judgments, penalties, (including excise and similar taxes), fines, 
settlements, and reasonable expenses (including attorney’s fees) actually incurred in connection 
with the proceeding. If the proceeding was brought by or on behalf of the Corporation, the 
indemnification is limited to reasonable expenses actually incurred by the person in connection 
with the proceeding. 

9.03 Procedures Relating to Indemnification Payments. 
(a) Before the Corporation may pay any indemnification expenses (including 

attorney’s fees), the Corporation must specifically determine that indemnification is 
permissible, authorize indemnification, and determine that expenses to be reimbursed are 
reasonable, except as provided in subparagraph (c) below. The Corporation may make 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

90



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 11 Bylaws 

these determinations and decisions by any one of the following procedures 
(i) Majority vote of a quorum consisting of Directors who, at the time 

of the vote, are not named defendants or respondents in the proceeding. 
(ii) If such a quorum cannot be obtained, by a majority vote of a 

committee of the Board designated to act in the matter by a majority vote of all 
Directors, consisting solely of two or more Directors who at the time of the vote 
are not named defendants or respondents in the proceeding. 

(iii) Determination by special legal counsel selected by the Board by the 
same vote as provided in subparagraphs (i) or (ii) above or if such a quorum cannot 
be obtained and such a committee cannot be established, by a majority vote of all 
Directors. 
(b) The Corporation will authorize indemnification and determine that 

expenses to be reimbursed are reasonable in the same manner that it determines whether 
indemnification is permissible. If special legal counsel determines that indemnification is 
permissible, authorization of indemnification and determination of reasonableness of 
expenses will be made as specified by subsection (a)(iii), governing selection of special 
legal counsel. A provision contained in the Certificate of Formation or a resolution of the 
Board that requires the indemnification permitted by Section 9.01 constitutes sufficient 
authorization of indemnification even though the provision may not have been adopted or 
authorized in the same manner as the determination that indemnification is permissible. 

(c) The Corporation will advance expenses before final disposition of a 
proceeding only after it determines that the facts then known would not preclude 
indemnification. The determination that the facts then known to those making the 
determination would not preclude indemnification and authorization of payment will be 
made in the same manner as a determination that indemnification is permissible under 
subsection (a). 
In addition to this determination, the Corporation may advance expenses only after it 

receives a written affirmation and undertaking from the person to receive the advance. The 
person’s written affirmation will state that he or she has met the standard of conduct necessary for 
indemnification under these Bylaws. The written undertaking will provide for repayment of the 
amounts advanced by the Corporation if it is ultimately determined that the person has not met the 
requirements for indemnification. The undertaking will be an unlimited general obligation of the 
person, but it need not be secured and may be accepted without reference to financial ability to 
repay. 

9.04 Certificate of Formation Controls. In the event of a conflict between the 
foregoing provisions of this ARTICLE IX, and any provision contained in the Certificate of 
Formation of the Corporation, the provisions contained in the Certificate of Formation of the 
Corporation shall govern and control. 

ARTICLE X  
NOTICES 

10.01 Method of Notice. Any notice required or permitted by these Bylaws to be given 
to a Director, Officer, or member of a committee of the Corporation may be given by personal 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

91



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 12 Bylaws 

delivery, mail, overnight delivery service, facsimile, or electronic transmission. If mailed, a notice 
is deemed delivered two days after it is deposited in the mail addressed to the person at his or her 
address as it appears on the corporate records, with postage prepaid. If given by overnight delivery, 
a notice is deemed delivered one day after it is accepted by the delivery company addressed to the 
person at his or her address as it appears on the corporate records. If given by facsimile, a notice 
is deemed delivered when the sender obtains a confirmation of the receipt of the facsimile. If given 
by electronic transmission, a notice is deemed delivered upon receipt, or when the sender obtains 
a confirmation of receipt of the electronic transmission in any manner. A person may change his 
or her address in the corporate records by giving written notice of the change to the secretary of 
the corporation. 

10.02 Signed Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice is required by law or under the 
Certificate of Formation or these Bylaws, a written waiver signed by the person entitled to receive 
such notice is considered the equivalent to giving the required notice. A waiver of notice is 
effective whether signed before or after the time stated in the notice being waived. 

10.03 Waiving Notice by Attendance. A person’s attendance at a meeting constitutes 
waiver of notice of the meeting unless the person attends for the express purpose of objecting to 
the transaction of any business because the meeting was not lawfully called or convened. 

ARTICLE XI  
SPECIAL PROCEDURES CONCERNING MEETINGS 

11.01 Meeting by Remote Communications. The Board of Directors and any committee 
of the Corporation may hold a meeting by telephone conference call, video conference, or other 
means of remote meetings. In all meetings held remotely, matters must be arranged in such a 
manner that all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. The notice of a meeting 
to be held remotely must state the fact that the meeting will be held remotely as well as all other 
matters required to be included in the notice. A person’s participation in a remotely held meeting 
constitutes his or her presence at the meeting. 

11.02 Decision without Meeting. Any decision required or permitted to be made at a 
meeting of the Board, or any committee of the Corporation may be made without a meeting. A 
decision without a meeting may be made if a written consent to the decision is signed by all the 
persons entitled to vote on the matter. For the purposes of this Section 11.02, a Director’s consent 
by email shall be considered valid as written consent. Copies of the signed consents (or emails) 
will be deemed originals for all purposes and shall be placed in the Corporation minute book and 
kept with the corporate records. A photographic, photostatic, facsimile, electronically scanned, or 
similarly reliable reproduction of a consent in writing signed by a Director will be treated as an 
original being signed by the Director. 

11.03 Proxy Voting. Directors shall not vote by proxy. 
ARTICLE XII  
AMENDMENT 

12.01 These Bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed, and new bylaws may be 
adopted by the majority vote of all of the Board of Directors. The notice of any meeting at which 
these Bylaws are altered, amended, or repealed, or at which new bylaws are adopted shall include 
notice that amendments to the Bylaws will be discussed and voted upon. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

92



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 13 Bylaws 

ARTICLE XIII  
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

13.01 Legal Authorities Governing Construction of Bylaws. These Bylaws will be 
construed under Texas law. All references in these Bylaws to statutes, regulations, or other sources 
of legal authority will refer to the authorities cited, or their successors, as they may be amended 
from time to time. 

13.02 Legal Construction. To the greatest extent possible, these Bylaws shall be 
construed to conform to all legal requirements and all requirements for obtaining and maintaining 
all tax exemptions that may be available to nonprofit corporations. If any provision of these Bylaws 
is held invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, the invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability 
will not affect any other provision, and these Bylaws will be construed as if they had not included 
the invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision. 

13.03 Headings. The headings used in these Bylaws are for convenience and may not be 
considered in construing these Bylaws. 

13.04 Number; Gender. All singular words include the plural, and all plural words 
include the singular. Any words or pronouns indicating a specific gender shall be interpreted to 
include the opposite gender. 

13.05 Seal. The Board of Directors may obtain and adopt a corporate seal. If a corporate 
seal is obtained and adopted, such seal shall contain the name of the corporation, the year of 
incorporation, and the word Texas, however, nothing in this paragraph shall be interpreted to 
require the use of a seal by the Corporation. 

13.06 Parties Bound. The Bylaws will bind and inure to the benefit of the Directors, 
Officers, committee members, employees, and agents of the Corporation and their respective heirs, 
executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors, and assigns except as the bylaws 
otherwise provide. 

[Signature page follows.] 
  

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

93



L & B 22363/0003/L2193992.DOCX/2 14 Bylaws 

These Bylaws were approved and adopted by the Corporation’s initial Board of Directors 
on this ____ day of ____________, ______. 
 
 

DIRECTORS: 

 

  

JUDGE MARTHA ALICIA PONCE 

 

  

JUDGE SOULI SHANKLIN 

 

  

JUDGE JOHN PAUL SCHUSTER 

 

  

JUDGE LEODORO MARTINEZ, III 

 

 

 

  

JUDGE RAMSEY ENGLISH CANTU 

 

  

JUDGE BELLA RUBIO 

 

  

JUDGE BILL MITCHELL 

 

  

JUDGE CYNTHIA MARTINEZ-RIVERA 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

94



 

L & B 22363/0003/L2194099.DOCX/2 1 Organizational Minutes 

CONSENT OF DIRECTORS 
OF  

PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC., A TEXAS NONPROFIT CORPORATION 
      

 
ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING 

The undersigned, being all of the Directors of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC. (the 
“Corporation”), a Texas nonprofit corporation, acting by written consent in lieu of a meeting 
pursuant to the provisions of the Texas Business Organizations Code, do hereby take the 
following action and adopt the following resolutions: 

The Directors have been informed that the Certificate of Formation of the Corporation 
has been filed with the Texas Secretary of State, that the Certificate of Filing has been issued by 
the Texas Secretary of State, and that the Corporation’s corporate existence began on 
___________ ____, 2022. 

The Board of Directors hereby adopts the Bylaws of the PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, 
INC., a copy of which is to be executed by the Secretary of the Corporation and filed in the 
corporate minute book. 

Each of the undersigned Directors shall serve for a term of at least one (1) year, unless 
such term is shortened due to the death, resignation, or removal of such Director. 

The Board of Directors elects the following named persons to serve as Officers of the 
Corporation until their successors shall have been elected and qualified. Each such Officer shall 
have and perform such duties as are set forth in the Bylaws of the Corporation and such 
additional duties as may be from time to time prescribed by the Board of Directors: 

SARAH HIDALGO-COOK Executive Director 

CYNTHIA Z. RODRIGUEZ Deputy Director 

[OFFICER NAME] Secretary 

[OFFICER NAME] Chief Financial Officer 

The Board of Directors authorizes and ratifies the opening of a bank account in the name 
of and on behalf of the Corporation, and adopts resolutions for such purpose, copies of which 
shall be kept in the corporate minute book. The signature of any Officer of the Corporation shall 
be required on all checks drawn on this account. 

The Board of Directors adopts the following resolutions: 
RESOLVED, that the Officers of the Corporation are hereby authorized and 

directed to apply for, and obtain, a federal employer’s tax identification number from the 
Internal Revenue Service. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

95



 

L & B 22363/0003/L2194099.DOCX/2  

RESOLVED, that the Officers of the Corporation are hereby authorized to take 
whatever steps they deem necessary or desirable to file exemptions from federal income 
tax, state franchise tax, and state sales tax, to the extent the Officers desire to pursue any 
such exemptions. 

RESOLVED, that the Conflict of Interest Policy attached to these Minutes is 
hereby adopted as the Conflict of Interest Policy for the Corporation. 

RESOLVED, that the Officers of the Corporation are hereby authorized and 
directed to consult with one or more insurance agents regarding the advisability of 
purchasing insurance to cover the activities of the Corporation and to cover the Officers 
and Directors of the Corporation, and to determine the cost of such insurance. 

RESOLVED, that the Officers of the Corporation are hereby authorized and 
directed to commence the corporate business in accordance with the Corporation’s 
Certificate of Formation, Bylaws, and the directives contained herein. 
This Consent of Directors may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be 

binding on the signatory or signatories thereto, and all of which, when taken together, shall 
constitute one and the same document. Facsimile signatures, scanned and e-mailed signatures, 
and other electronic signatures on this Consent of Directors form shall be deemed to be original 
signatures for all purposes. 

[Signature Page Follows.] 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

96



 

L & B 22363/0003/L2194099.DOCX/2 3 Organizational Minutes 

EXECUTED to be effective this ____ day of __________,_____. 
 

DIRECTORS: 

 

  

JUDGE MARTHA ALICIA PONCE 

 

  

JUDGE SOULI SHANKLIN 

 

  

JUDGE JOHN PAUL SCHUSTER 

 

  

JUDGE LEODORO MARTINEZ, III 

 

 

  

JUDGE RAMSEY ENGLISH CANTU 

 

  

JUDGE BELLA RUBIO 

 

  

JUDGE BILL MITCHELL 

 

  

JUDGE CYNTHIA MARTINEZ-RIVERA 

 
 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

97



L & B 22363/0003/L2194095.DOCX/ 1 Conflict of Interest Policy 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY 
OF  

PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC., A TEXAS NONPROFIT CORPORATION 
      

ARTICLE I  
PURPOSE 

1.01 The purpose of this Conflict of Interest Policy (the “Policy”) is to protect the 
interests of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC. (the “Corporation”) when the Corporation is 
contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the private interest of 
an Officer or Director of the Corporation or might result in a possible excess benefit transaction. 
This Policy is adopted to assist all persons holding positions of responsibility and trust in the 
Corporation, including its Officers and Directors and members of any of its Committees, to avoid any 
actions which might give rise to a conflict of interest or to the appearance of a conflict of interest, and 
also to state for the record the ethical standards to be followed by the Corporation. This policy is 
intended to supplement but not replace any applicable state and federal laws governing conflict of 
interest applicable to nonprofit and charitable organizations. 

ARTICLE II  
DEFINITIONS 

2.01 “Interested Person” shall mean a person who has a direct or indirect Financial 
Interest (as defined herein) and who is a member of the Board of Directors or the member of a 
Committee vested with governing powers delegated by the Board of Directors. 

2.02 “Financial Interest” shall mean a direct or indirect, through business, investment, 
or family: 

(a) ownership or investment interest in any entity with which the Corporation 
has a transaction or arrangement; 

(b) compensation arrangement with the Corporation or with any entity or 
individual with which the Corporation has a transaction or arrangement; or 

(c) potential ownership or investment interest in, or compensation arrangement 
with, any entity or individual with which the Corporation is negotiating a transaction or 
arrangement.  
A Financial Interest is not necessarily a conflict of interest. Under Section 3.03 of this 

Policy, a person who has a Financial Interest will have a conflict of interest only if the Board of 
Directors or Committee decides that a conflict of interest exists. 

2.03 “Compensation“ includes direct and indirect remuneration as well as gifts or favors 
that are not insubstantial. 

ARTICLE III 
PROCEDURES 

3.01 Best Interest of Corporation. Officers and Directors are obligated to act always in 
the best interest of the Corporation. This obligation requires that any Officer or Director, in the 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

98



L & B 22363/0003/L2194095.DOCX/ 2 Conflict of Interest Policy 

performance of their duties, seek only the furtherance of the mission of the Corporation. It is the duty 
of all Officers and Directors to avoid not only impropriety but also the appearance of impropriety. 

3.02 Duty to Disclose. In connection with any actual or possible conflict of interest, an 
Interested Person must disclose the existence of the Financial Interest and be given the opportunity 
to disclose all material facts to the Board of Directors and members of Committees vested with 
governing powers delegated by the Board of Directors considering the proposed transaction or 
arrangement. 

3.03 Determining Whether a Conflict of Interest Exists. A conflict of interest may 
exist when you or any member of your family, or a business partner, will profit, directly or 
indirectly, from the conferring by the Corporation of any financial or other benefit to a third party 
(“Potential Third Party Recipient”), including but not limited to (i) the selection of a vendor; (ii) 
the selection of a financial institution or investment advisor; (iii) the award of any contract; or (iv) 
any other activity that involves a financial or other benefit conferred to a third party by the 
Corporation. Such a conflict may exist if any member of the Board of Directors or Committee or 
a member of his/her family, or a business partner, has an ownership interest in or is being paid by 
the Potential Third Party Recipient as an employee, contractor, subcontractor, consultant, or 
otherwise (including to serve on its staff or board), or if the Board of Directors or Committee 
member or any member of his/her immediate family, or a business partner, has sold, sells, or plans 
to sell goods or services to the Potential Third Party Recipient. 

3.04 Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest. Any potential conflict of interest on 
the part of any Officer, Director or any member of any Committee shall be disclosed to the other Officers, 
Directors, and/or Committee members at any meeting when a matter involving the Potential Third Party 
Recipient is being considered for a vote (including, but not limited to, selection, exclusion, denial, or 
award) by the Officers, Board of Directors or Committee, and made a matter of record in the written 
minutes of such meeting. If known in advance, such potential conflict of interest shall also be disclosed 
through the annual acknowledgment procedure, as more fully addressed in ARTICLE VI. below. 

3.05 Abstention. No Officer, member of the Board or Committee shall evaluate or vote on 
any matter in which he/she has a potential conflict of interest, and he/she shall not use personal 
influence in connection therewith. However, an Officer, Board or Committee member who is 
excluded from voting because of such conflict of interest may briefly state his/her position on the matter 
and answer pertinent questions of other Board or Committee members when the member's knowledge 
of the matter will assist the Board or Committee. After such questions have been answered, the member 
with the financial or emotional conflict of interest shall leave the room while the other members 
continue their discussion of the matter and vote on the matter. Board or Committee members who have 
previously held an ownership interest, served as an Officer, Board member or on the staff of a 
Potential Third Party Recipient may continue to participate in the discussion and may vote on the 
matter if no conflict of interest (as defined above) exists, provided that the Board or Committee member 
first discloses his/her apparent conflict of interest as required in Section 3.04. 

3.06 Procedures Regarding the Conflict of Interest. 
(a) An Interested Person may make a presentation at the meeting of the Board 

of Directors or Committee meeting, but after the presentation, he/she shall leave the 
meeting during the discussion of, and the vote on, the transaction or arrangement involving 
the possible conflict of interest. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

99



L & B 22363/0003/L2194095.DOCX/ 3 Conflict of Interest Policy 

(b) The Chairman of the Board or Committee shall, if appropriate, appoint a 
disinterested person or Committee to investigate alternatives to the proposed transaction or 
arrangement. 

(c) After exercising due diligence, the Board of Directors or Committee shall 
determine whether the Corporation can obtain with reasonable efforts a more advantageous 
transaction or arrangement from a person or entity that would not give rise to a conflict of 
interest. 

(d) If a more advantageous transaction or arrangement is not reasonably 
possible under circumstances not producing a conflict of interest, the Board of Directors or 
Committee shall determine by a majority vote of the disinterested Directors whether the 
transaction or arrangement is in the Corporation’s best interest, for its own benefit, and 
whether it is fair and reasonable. In conformity with the above determination, a decision as 
to whether to enter into the transaction or arrangement shall be made by a majority vote of 
the disinterested Directors. 
3.07 Violations of the Conflicts of Interest Policy. 

(a) If the Board of Directors or Committee has reasonable cause to believe an 
Interested Person has failed to disclose actual or possible conflicts of interest, it shall 
inform the Interested Person of the basis for such belief and afford the Interested Person an 
opportunity to explain the alleged failure to disclose. 

(b) If, after hearing the Interested Person’s response and after making further 
investigation as warranted by the circumstances, the Board of Directors or Committee 
determines the Interested Person has failed to disclose an actual or possible conflict of 
interest, it shall take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action, which may include 
temporary suspension or permanent removal of such person as an Officer, Director, or 
Committee member of this Corporation. 

ARTICLE IV  
RECORDS OF PROCEEDINGS 

4.01 Minutes. The minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and all Committees 
vested with powers delegated by the Board of Directors shall contain:  

(a) The names of the persons who disclosed or otherwise were found to have a 
Financial Interest in connection with an actual or possible conflict of interest, the nature of 
the Financial Interest, any action taken to determine whether a conflict of interest was 
present, and the Board of Directors’ or Committee’s decision as to whether a conflict of 
interest in fact existed.  

(b) The names of the persons who were present for discussions and votes 
relating to the transaction or arrangement, the content of the discussion, including any 
alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement, and a record of any votes taken in 
connection with the proceedings. 

  

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

100



L & B 22363/0003/L2194095.DOCX/ 4 Conflict of Interest Policy 

ARTICLE V  
COMPENSATION 

5.01 A Director who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Corporation 
for services is precluded from voting on matters pertaining to that Director’s compensation. 

5.02 A Committee member whose jurisdiction includes compensation matters and who 
receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Corporation for services is precluded from 
voting on matters pertaining to that committee member’s compensation. 

5.03 A Director or any committee member whose jurisdiction includes compensation 
matters and who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Corporation, either 
individually or collectively, is not prohibited from providing information to any committee 
regarding compensation. 

ARTICLE VI  
ANNUAL STATEMENTS 

6.01 Not later than January 31st of each year, each member of the Board of Directors, 
each member of a committee vested with governing powers delegated by the Board of Directors 
(if any), and each Officer shall annually sign a statement, the form of which is attached hereto as 
EXHIBIT A, which affirms such person: 

(a) has received a copy of the Conflicts of Interest Policy; 
(b) has read and understands the Policy; 
(c) has agreed to comply with the Policy. 

ARTICLE VII  
OPERATIONAL STANDARDS 

7.01 To ensure the Corporation operates in a manner consistent with its nonprofit 
objectives, the Corporation shall: 

(a) Based on competent survey or other information deemed reliable, enter into 
reasonable compensation and benefit arrangements through arm’s length bargaining with 
any entity or individual with which the Corporation has a transaction or arrangement. 

(b) Exercise oversight to ensure that any partnerships, joint ventures, and 
arrangements with management organizations, if any, conform to the Corporation’s written 
policies, are properly recorded, reflect reasonable investment or payments for goods and 
services, further the Corporation’s objectives, and do not result in impermissible private 
benefit or in an excess benefit transaction. 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

101



L & B 22363/0003/L2194095.DOCX/ 5 Conflict of Interest Policy 

EXHIBIT A 
Form of Acknowledgement of Conflict of Interest Policy 

 
PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY 
I have read and understood the Conflict of Interest Policy of PARTNERS IN TRANSIT, INC., 

and agree to abide by it. 
I am not presently, nor have I been in the past, an owner, shareholder, agent, officer, director, 

trustee, employee, contractor, subcontractor, consultant, volunteer, customer or vendor of any “Potential 
Third Party Recipient” (as such term is defined in the Policy) that I am currently aware of, including but 
not limited to the organization(s) listed on the Request for Proposal (“RFP”) list or list of vendors 
proposed for consideration I have been furnished, except for the following organizations: 

____________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________ 

To the best of my knowledge, no member of my family, or a business partner, is presently, nor 
has been in the past, an owner, shareholder, agent, officer, director, trustee, employee, contractor, 
subcontractor, consultant, volunteer, customer or vendor of any Potential Third Party Recipient that I am 
currently aware of, including but not limited to the organization(s) listed on the RFP list or list of vendors 
proposed for consideration I have been furnished, except for the following organizations: 

____________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________ 
____________________________________________________ 

Facsimile signatures, and scanned and e-mailed signatures, on this Acknowledgment form shall 
be deemed to be original signatures, for all purposes. 

 
ACKNOWLEDGED BY: 
 
 
  
Name:  
Position:   
Date:   

 

DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW 
 THIS PROPOSED ENTITY IS NOT YET ORGANIZED

102



103





105



106



107



108



Southwest Area Regional Transit District
PROPOSED BUDGET REVISION
FUND 505 FEDERAL
YEAR:  2023
Effective Date:  From 9/1/2022 To 12/31/2023
Board Meeting Date:  3/22/2023  

505 FEDERAL FUND 505

LINE Code DESCRIPTION Total Budget Current Year 
Actual

Total Budget 
Variance

BUDGET 
AMEND

REVISED 
BUDGET

REVISED 
BALANCE

1 REVENUES

2 101

3 4100 GRANT REVENUE 152,487.00 59,241.00 93,246.00 56,213.00 208,700.00 149,459.00 

4 120

5 4100 GRANT REVENUE 609,949.00 284,085.00 325,864.00 224,854.00 834,803.00 550,718.00 

6 4102 CLIENT FARES REVENUES 127,000.00 107,360.25 19,639.75 93,000.00 220,000.00 112,639.75 

7       Total REVENUES 889,436.00 450,686.25 438,749.75 374,067.00 1,263,503.00 812,816.75 

8 EXPENDITURES

9 101          ADMINISTRATIVE

10 SALARY

11 5000 GENERAL MANAGER 30,645.00 17,561.63 13,083.37 3,500.00 34,145.00 16,583.37 

12 5001 ASSIST GEN MANAGER 37,550.00 18,228.36 19,321.64 2,500.00 40,050.00 21,821.64 

13 5008 FINANCE TECHNICIAN 9,677.00 0.00 9,677.00 500.00 10,177.00 10,177.00 

14 5010 AUDITING MANAGER 2,100.00 1,876.42 223.58 500.00 2,600.00 723.58 

15 5011 CHIEF FINANCIAL MANGER 25,024.00 12,147.84 12,876.16 1,500.00 26,524.00 14,376.16 

16 5110 FICA TAXES 6,300.00 3,227.86 3,072.14 3,500.00 9,800.00 6,572.14 

17 5113 TWC 357.00 12.43 344.57 357.00 344.57 

18 5125 MEDICAL 7,560.00 4,418.50 3,141.50 4,000.00 11,560.00 7,141.50 

19 5137 RETIREMENT COMPANY MATCH 9,929.00 2,538.36 7,390.64 4,000.00 13,929.00 11,390.64 

20 SALARY & FRINGES 129,142.00 60,011.40 69,130.60 20,000.00 149,142.00 89,130.60 

21

22 5211 TRAVEL 3,780.00 2,641.74 1,138.26 3,000.00 6,780.00 4,138.26 

23 5212 LODGING EXPENSE 3,780.00 3,881.74 (101.74) 5,000.00 8,780.00 4,898.26 

24 5300 AUDIT FEES 8,225.00 0.00 8,225.00 13,213.00 21,438.00 21,438.00 

25 5321 VEHICLE PREVENTATIVE MAIN 420.00 0.00 420.00 3,000.00 3,420.00 3,420.00 

26 5400 OFFICE SUPPLIES 420.00 156.86 263.14 1,000.00 1,420.00 1,263.14 

27 5510 UTILITIES 1,680.00 0.00 1,680.00 3,000.00 4,680.00 4,680.00 

28 5565 UNIFORMS 0.00 392.39 (392.39) 2,000.00 2,000.00 1,607.61 

29 5570 TRAINING 3,780.00 2,488.50 1,291.50 2,000.00 5,780.00 3,291.50 

30 5611 EQUIPMENT LEASE 420.00 0.00 420.00 1,000.00 1,420.00 1,420.00 

31 5726 SOFTWARE FEES 840.00 0.00 840.00 3,000.00 3,840.00 3,840.00 

32 23,345.00 9,561.23 13,783.77 36,213.00 59,558.00 49,996.77 

33 152,487.00 69,572.63 82,914.37 56,213.00 208,700.00 139,127.37 

34 120 OPERATIONS 0.00

35 SALARY

36 5003 SAFETY & TRAINING TECHNICI 16,724.00 8,395.20 8,328.80 1,000.00 17,724.00 9,328.80 

37 5007 I T TECHNICIAN 5,069.00 2,738.27 2,330.73 500.00 5,569.00 2,830.73 

38 5012 VEHICLE OPERATOR 229,400.00 135,871.53 93,528.47 120,000.00 349,400.00 213,528.47 

39 5014 VHICLE TECHNICIAN SUPERVIS 13,555.00 6,698.92 6,856.08 1,000.00 14,555.00 7,856.08 

40 5016 MAINTENANCE 10,237.00 5,435.93 4,801.07 600.00 10,837.00 5,401.07 

EXPENSES

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE 

109



41 5020 OT-OVERTIME 7,400.00 10,478.25 (3,078.25) 21,954.00 29,354.00 18,875.75 

42 5025 CHIEF OPERATIONS MANAGER 28,305.00 14,267.44 14,037.56 2,000.00 30,305.00 16,037.56 

43 5027 SCHEDULER DISPATCHER 43,603.00 21,644.37 21,958.63 2,000.00 45,603.00 23,958.63 

44 5034 VECHICLE TECHNICIAN I 9,512.00 2,635.90 6,876.10 1,000.00 10,512.00 7,876.10 

45 5035 VEHICLE TECHNICIAN II 14,673.00 7,251.28 7,421.72 1,000.00 15,673.00 8,421.72 

46 5036 OPERATIONS REPORT TECHNIC 14,027.00 7,396.51 6,630.49 1,000.00 15,027.00 7,630.49 

47 5037 MOBILITY MANAGEMENT SPEC 7,205.00 0.00 7,205.00 7,205.00 7,205.00 

48 5110 FICA TAXES 29,230.00 16,736.17 12,493.83 12,000.00 41,230.00 24,493.83 

49 5113 TWC 1,110.00 99.02 1,010.98 1,110.00 1,010.98 

50 5122 WORKSMEN'S COMP 17,697.00 9,007.82 8,689.18 3,000.00 20,697.00 11,689.18 

51 5125 MEDICAL 71,639.00 38,927.90 32,711.10 20,000.00 91,639.00 52,711.10 

52 5137 RETIREMENT COMPANY MATCH 14,911.00 8,692.27 6,218.73 6,000.00 20,911.00 12,218.73 

53 SALARY & FRINGES 534,297.00 296,276.78 238,020.22 193,054.00 727,351.00 431,074.22 

54 EXPENSE
S

55 5211 TRAVEL 4,181.00 1,235.01 2,945.99 3,500.00 7,681.00 6,445.99 

56 5212 LODGING EXPENSE 5,920.00 3,084.06 2,835.94 3,500.00 9,420.00 6,335.94 

57 5220 MEETING EXPENSE 222.00 0.00 222.00 178.00 400.00 400.00 

58 5300 AUDIT FEES 5,920.00 0.00 5,920.00 5,000.00 10,920.00 10,920.00 

59 5321 VEHICLE PREVENTATIVE MAIN 12,950.00 18,355.35 (5,405.35) 20,000.00 32,950.00 14,594.65 

60 5400 OFFICE SUPPLIES 1,776.00 1,171.64 604.36 2,000.00 3,776.00 2,604.36 

61 5402 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 5,920.00 4,012.40 1,907.60 2,000.00 7,920.00 3,907.60 

62 5415 AUTO SHOP SUPPLIES 1,258.00 1,744.43 (486.43) 2,000.00 3,258.00 1,513.57 

63 5421 POSTAGE 326.00 100.46 225.54 74.00 400.00 299.54 

64 5500 ADRT/PUB NOTICES/PUBLICITY 296.00 133.77 162.23 104.00 400.00 266.23 

65 5510 UTILITIES 17,760.00 13,410.93 4,349.07 5,000.00 22,760.00 9,349.07 

66 5540 FUEL AND OIL 64,305.00 48,409.67 15,895.33 23,858.00 88,163.00 39,753.33 

67 5558 SERVICE CHRG FEE 740.00 327.41 412.59 300.00 1,040.00 712.59 

68 5565 UNIFORMS 2,220.00 2,673.59 (453.59) 2,000.00 4,220.00 1,546.41 

69 5570 TRAINING 2,331.00 2,582.44 (251.44) 3,000.00 5,331.00 2,748.56 

70 5571 MEMERSHIP & ASSOC DUES 370.00 1,069.30 (699.30) 700.00 1,070.00 0.70 

71 5598 SOFTWARE ACQUISITION 0.00 10,591.99 (10,591.99) 10,592.00 10,592.00 0.01 

72 5599 MISC EQUIP ACQUISITION 111.00 0.00 111.00 (111.00) 0.00 0.00 

73 5600 RENTAL 22,888.00 8,294.40 14,593.60 8,000.00 30,888.00 22,593.60 

74 5611 EQUIPMENT LEASE 4,181.00 3,207.44 973.56 3,000.00 7,181.00 3,973.56 

75 5620 BLDG MAINT AND REPAIR 1,850.00 3,390.89 (1,540.89) 3,000.00 4,850.00 1,459.11 

76 5625 BLDG & VEHICLE INSURANCE 27,110.00 13,799.35 13,310.65 10,000.00 37,110.00 23,310.65 

77 5631 EMPLOYEE CREDENTIALING SR 2,960.00 2,196.66 763.34 2,000.00 4,960.00 2,763.34 

78 5700 AUTOMATION SERVICES 8,140.00 5,285.12 2,854.88 2,000.00 10,140.00 4,854.88 

79 5704 AUTO PARTS & SUPPLIES MAJO  296.00 153.92 142.08 304.00 600.00 446.08 

80 5705 AUTO MAJOR REPAIR - OUTSO 2,960.00 3,053.89 (93.89) 5,000.00 7,960.00 4,906.11 

81 5706 AUTO LICENSING FEES 444.00 139.67 304.33 356.00 800.00 660.33 

82 5720 OFFICE EQUIP/FURNITURE 222.00 2,221.38 (1,999.38) 2,000.00 2,222.00 0.62 

83 5725 HARDWARE ACQUISTION 555.00 393.87 161.13 445.00 1,000.00 606.13 

84 5726 SOFTWARE FEES 4,440.00 7,252.26 (2,812.26) 5,000.00 9,440.00 2,187.74 

85 202,652.00 158,291.30 44,360.70 124,800.00 327,452.00 169,160.70 

86 736,949.00 454,568.08 282,380.92 317,854.00 1,054,803.00 600,234.92 

87       Total EXPENDITURES 889,436.00 524,140.71 365,295.29 374,067.00 1,263,503.00 739,362.29 

88

89 NET 0.00 (73,454.46) 73,454.46 0.00 0.00 73,454.46 

TOTAL OPERATIONS EXPENSE

TOTAL OPERATIONS 

110



111



Southwest Area Regional Transit District
PROPOSED BUDGET REVISION
FUND 515 REGIONAL PLANNING
YEAR:  2023
Effective Date:  From 9/1/2022 To 08/31/2023
Board Meeting Date:  03/22/2023  

515 REGIONAL PLANNING FUND 515

LINE Code DESCRIPTION Total Budget Current Year 
Actual

Total Budget 
Variance

BUDGET 
AMEND

REVISED 
BUDGET

REVISED 
BALANCE

1 REVENUES

2 4100 GRANT REVENUE 36,932.00 4,000.00 32,932.00 (1,932.00) 35,000.00 31,000.00 

3       Total REVENUES 36,932.00 4,000.00 32,932.00 (1,932.00) 35,000.00 31,000.00 

4

5 EXPENDITURES

6 101          ADMINISTRATIVE

7 SALARY

8 5000 GENERAL MANAGER 29,260.00 7,883.14 21,376.86 (1,932.00) 27,328.00 19,444.86 

9 5110 FICA TAXES 4,312.00 660.05 3,651.95 0.00 4,312.00 3,651.95 

10 5125 MEDICAL 2,070.00 613.83 1,456.17 0.00 2,070.00 1,456.17 

11 5137 RETIREMENT COMPANY MATCH 1,290.00 442.98 847.02 0.00 1,290.00 847.02 

12 SALARY & FRINGES 36,932.00 9,600.00 27,332.00 (1,932.00) 35,000.00 25,400.00 

13 36,932.00 9,600.00 27,332.00 (1,932.00) 35,000.00 25,400.00 

14       Total EXPENDITURES 36,932.00 9,600.00 27,332.00 (1,932.00) 35,000.00 25,400.00 

15

16 NET 0.00 (5,600.00) 5,600.00 0.00 0.00 5,600.00 

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE 

112



Revised Pay Scale

113



Southwest Area Regional Transit District
Pay Scale

Established May 2012
Revised February 17, 2023

Steps are in increments of every two years of experience with a 3% increase.

Hourly Wage Salary Wage = Hourly Wage * 2080 annual hours

Step Step Step Step Step Step Step Step Step Step
Pay Grade 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

1 11.00$             11.33$            11.67$                12.02$      12.38$       12.75$      13.13$     13.53$      13.93$      14.35$       
2 12.50$             12.88$            13.26$                13.66$      14.07$       14.49$      14.93$     15.37$      15.83$      16.31$       
3 13.50$             13.91$            14.32$                14.75$      15.19$       15.65$      16.12$     16.60$      17.10$      17.61$       
4 14.00$             14.42$            14.85$                15.30$      15.76$       16.23$      16.72$     17.22$      17.73$      18.27$       
5 14.50$             14.94$            15.38$                15.84$      16.32$       16.81$      17.31$     17.83$      18.37$      18.92$       
6 15.50$             15.97$            16.44$                16.94$      17.45$       17.97$      18.51$     19.06$      19.63$      20.22$       
7 16.50$             17.00$            17.50$                18.03$      18.57$       19.13$      19.70$     20.29$      20.90$      21.53$       
8 17.50$             18.03$            18.57$                19.12$      19.70$       20.29$      20.90$     21.52$      22.17$      22.83$       
9 18.50$             19.06$            19.63$                20.22$      20.82$       21.45$      22.09$     22.75$      23.44$      24.14$       

10 25.00$             25.75$            26.52$                27.32$      28.14$       28.98$      29.85$     30.75$      31.67$      32.62$       
11 27.00$             27.81$            28.64$                29.50$      30.39$       31.30$      32.24$     33.21$      34.20$      35.23$       
12 28.00$             28.84$            29.71$                30.60$      31.51$       32.46$      33.43$     34.44$      35.47$      36.53$       
13 32.00$             32.96$            33.95$                34.97$      36.02$       37.10$      38.21$     39.36$      40.54$      41.75$       

Position Pay Grade Step Starting Pay Status
General Manager 14 1 32.00$         Exempt
Assistant General Manager 12 1 28.00$         Exempt
Chief Financia Manager 11 1 27.00$         Exempt
Chief Operations Manager 10 1 25.00$         Exempt
Vehicle Technician Supervisor 9 1 18.50$         Exempt
Mobility Manager Supervisor 8 1 17.50$         Exempt
Vehicle Technician II 7 1 16.50$         Exempt
Safety and Training Technician 6 1 15.50$         Exempt
Operations Report Technician 5 1 14.50$         Non-Exempt
Vehicle Technician I 5 1 14.50$         Non-Exempt
Mobility Manager II 4 1 14.00$         Non-Exempt
Vehicle Operators II 3 1 13.50$         Non-Exempt
Mobility Manager I 2 1 12.50$         Non-Exempt
Scheduler/Dispatcher 2 1 12.50$         Non-Exempt
Maintenance 1 1 11.00$         Non-Exempt
Auditing Manager 50.00$         On Call
Automation Technician 27.00$         On Call

114



Pay Adjustment

115



Southwest Area Regional Transit District 

One-Time Pay Adjustment 

 

Operations 

One-time $1.50 pay adjustment to operating staff due to the increase in starting rate on 
pay scale based on increase in federal funding allocation. Operating staff received a 
one-time $1 increase in FY 2021, FY 2022, and an additional $5 per hour Hazard Pay 
from May 2020 through June 2021.   

Positions Affected:  

• 27 Drivers 
• 4 Dispatchers 
• 2 Mobility Management Specialists 
• 2 Mechanics 
• 1 Report Technician 

Annual Rate Increase: $112,320  

 

Administrative/Management 

One-time 5% increase due to additional federal funding.  There has not been an 
increase for these staff since FY 2021. This staff is classified as Salaried.  

Positions Affected:  

• 1 General Manager    
• 1 Assistant General Manager  
• 1 Chief Operations Manager   
• 1 Chief Financial Manager   
• 1 Safety & Training Technician  

Annual Rate Increase: $18,575 

116



117



118



Southwest Area Regional Transit District
PROPOSED BUDGET CLOSEOUT
FUND 508 RTAP
YEAR:  2023
Effective Date:  From 9/1/2022 To 08/31/2023
Board Meeting Date:  03/22/2023  

508 RTAP FUND 508

LINE Code DESCRIPTION Total Budget Current Year 
Actual

Total Budget 
Variance

BUDGET 
AMEND

REVISED 
BUDGET

REVISED 
BALANCE

1 REVENUES

2 4100 GRANT REVENUE 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 0.00 18,000.00 0.00 

3       Total REVENUES 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 0.00 18,000.00 0.00 

4

5 EXPENDITURES

6 120 OPERATIONS

7

8 5570 TRAINING 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 0.00 18,000.00 0.00 

9 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 0.00 18,000.00 0.00 

10 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 0.00 18,000.00 0.00 

11       Total EXPENDITURES 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 0.00 18,000.00 0.00 

12

13 NET 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

EXPENSES

TOTAL OPERATIONS EXPENSE

TOTAL OPERATIONS 

119



120



Southwest Area Regional Transit District
PROPOSED BUDGET CLOSEOUT
FUND 515 REGIONAL PLANNING
YEAR:  2022
Effective Date:  From 3/1/2022 To 08/31/2022
Board Meeting Date:  03/22/2023  

515 REGIONAL PLANNING FUND 515

LINE Code DESCRIPTION Total Budget Current Year 
Actual

Total Budget 
Variance

BUDGET 
AMEND

REVISED 
BUDGET

REVISED 
BALANCE

1 REVENUES

2 4100 GRANT REVENUE 17,500.00 17,500.00 0.00 0.00 17,500.00 0.00 

3       Total REVENUES 17,500.00 17,500.00 0.00 0.00 17,500.00 0.00 

4

5 EXPENDITURES

6 101          ADMINISTRATIVE

7 SALARY

8 5000 GENERAL MANAGER 13,664.00 13,664.00 0.00 0.00 13,664.00 0.00 

9 5110 FICA TAXES 2,156.00 2,156.00 0.00 0.00 2,156.00 0.00 

10 5125 MEDICAL 1,035.00 1,035.00 0.00 0.00 1,035.00 0.00 

11 5137 RETIREMENT COMPANY MATCH 645.00 645.00 0.00 0.00 645.00 0.00 

12 SALARY & FRINGES 17,500.00 17,500.00 0.00 0.00 17,500.00 0.00 

13 17,500.00 17,500.00 0.00 0.00 17,500.00 0.00 

14       Total EXPENDITURES 17,500.00 17,500.00 0.00 0.00 17,500.00 0.00 

15

16 NET 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE 

121



122



Southwest Area Regional Transit District
PROPOSED BUDGET CLOSEOUT 
FUND 521 AARP
YEAR:  2022
Effective Date:  From 7/1/2022 To 12/31/2022
Board Meeting Date:  03/22/2023  

521 AARP FUND 521

LINE Code DESCRIPTION Total Budget Current Year 
Actual

Total Budget 
Variance

BUDGET 
AMEND

REVISED 
BUDGET

REVISED 
BALANCE

1 REVENUES

2 4100 GRANT REVENUE 30,500.00 30,500.00 0.00 30,500.00 0.00 

3       Total REVENUES 30,500.00 30,500.00 0.00 0.00 30,500.00 0.00 

4

5 EXPENDITURES

6 120 OPERATIONS

7 SALARY

8 5037 MOBILITY MANAGEMENT SPECI 5,400.00 5,400.00 0.00 5,400.00 0.00 

9 5110 FICA TAXES 400.00 400.00 0.00 400.00 0.00 

10 5113 TWC 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

11 5125 MEDICAL 1,400.00 1,400.00 0.00 1,400.00 0.00 

12 5137 RETIREMENT COMPANY MATCH 300.00 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00 

13 SALARY & FRINGES 7,500.00 7,500.00 0.00 0.00 7,500.00 0.00 

14

15

16 5211 TRAVEL 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00 

17 5400 OFFICE SUPPLIES 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 

18 5410 MARKETING SUPPLIES 18,000.00 18,000.00 0.00 18,000.00 0.00 

19 5540 FUEL AND OIL 2,000.00 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 

20 23,000.00 23,000.00 0.00 0.00 23,000.00 0.00 

21 30,500.00 30,500.00 0.00 0.00 30,500.00 0.00 

22       Total EXPENDITURES 30,500.00 30,500.00 0.00 0.00 30,500.00 0.00 

23

24 NET 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

EXPENSES

EXPENSES

TOTAL OPERATIONS EXPENSE

TOTAL OPERATIONS 

123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



 

 

General Manager’s 
Report 

212



PROSPEREMOS JUNTOS 

Sponsored by the Methodist Healthcare Ministries 

 

Prosperemos Juntos | Thriving Together supports coalitions in Bexar County, the Mid-
Border region (Dimmit, Edwards, Kinney, LaSalle, Maverick, Real, Uvalde, Val Verde, 
and Zavala counties), and the Laredo area (Webb, Zapata, and Jim Hogg counties). For 
the 2023 cohort, we will target our Bexar County recruitment in the Eastside 
neighborhood. Each coalition will be supported as they: 

Engage in community transformation in a way that advances equitable processes and 
outcomes. 

Address the underlying vital conditions (social determinants of health) with communities 
most affected by poverty, racial, health and other inequities. 

Develop and implement a strategy to address root causes of intergenerational poverty 
and exclusion. 

Prosperemos Juntos | Thriving Together is a capacity-building opportunity for 
communities in south and central Texas to substantially accelerate their equity journey.  
We believe communities hold the solutions to improve their health and well-being. The 
goal of this collaborative is to equip coalitions with skills and resources to strategically 
advance health equity, using the Pathways to Population Health framework as a guide.   

PHASES  

Phase I, the Learning Collaborative, lasts six months (from March – August). During this 
phase, Methodist Healthcare Ministries shares various frameworks and tools with 
coalitions to ultimately equip them to develop and implement a health equity strategy. 
The curriculum for the Learning Collaborative was developed in partnership with WE In 
the World and Rio Grande Valley Language Justice Collective. 

Milestones of the Learning Collaborative: By the end of March, coalitions will have at 
least three partnering organizations 

By June, coalitions will have authentically integrated persons with current lived 
experience of inequity; these persons will represent at least 1/3 of a coalition’s 
leadership team 

By the end of August, coalitions will have developed a Health Equity Strategy 

After completing the Learning Collaborative, coalitions are invited to apply to Phase II, 
the Implementation Phase. The Implementation Phase lasts 3 years and includes 
funding as well as capacity-building resources. Although coalitions will focus their time 
working in community, they will still be invited to collaborate with each other through 
convenings and training. 

213



General Manager’s 
Report 

 

 

  2022 

SARAH HIDALGO-COOK 
MARCH 22, 2023 BOARD MEETING 

SOUTHWEST AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT DISTRICT |       
214



RURAL PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION PROGRAMS-TXDOT 

• All TxDOT billings are up to date for the month ending February 2023.  
• SWART submitted 18 Milestone Reports in January 2023. Additionally, the semi-annual Charter 

Report was submitted.  SWART’s 1st Quarter financial review was performed and received a 
satisfactory rating.  

• Rehab activities for the Uvalde Facility is nearing its final phases.  The conference room/wellness 
center is completed, all windows have been replaced, outside repair, stucco, and painting is 
completed.  Final refurbishment to the lobby counter is being performed.  Contractors have begun 
on the extension of the maintenance shop.  The estimated completion is May 2023.  

• SWART continues to work with TxDOT and FTA on the final approval of the Phase 1 ESA for the 
Eagle Pass Property.  The last item pending is being handled by the Hendrickson Transportation 
Group pertaining to newly implemented requirements addressing communication with the Texas 
Historical Commission.  

• SWART and the City of Eagle Pass has received official notice of the Urbanized Designation from 
the U.S. DOT.  SWART and the City of Eagle Pass plans on holding a joint meeting the last week 
of March to begin setting a timeline for the formation of the MPO.  SWART is also seeking quotes 
from consultants to develop a comprehensive Memorandum of Understanding between the City of 
Eagle Pass and SWART.  

• A Coordinated Regional Transportation Planning Stakeholders Advisory Committee meeting was 
held on February 28, 2023.  This committee oversees regional planning activities in regard to  
meeting the goals & objectives for the 2022 Regional 5-Year Plan.  The 17-member committee 
has new representation in 3 member positions as of 2023.   

o Commissioner Ronnie Garza – Representative of Public Official 
o Gama Barboza – Representative of Faith Based Organization  
o Lt. Juan Martinez, Uvalde P.D. – Representative of Law Enforcement 

 

GENERAL ACTIVITIES 

• SWART management and administrative staff attended An Agency Strategic Planning Session 
with Meredith Greene of Socius Amica on Friday, March 3, 2023.  The staff received training on 
team building and updated its 2-Year Strategic Plan Goals and Objectives.  A final document will 
be available in the next 30 days which becomes a living document for the SWART Team to 
implement over the next 2 years.  

• SWART was selected by the Methodist Healthcare Ministries to form a coalition to address 
mobility barriers in the SWART service region.  The program is called Prosperemos 
Juntos/Thriving Communities.  See information about the program at the end of the report.   

• SWART took part in the 2023 Texas Transit Association Legislative Advocacy Day at the State 
Capitol on March 7, 2023.  Sarah Cook, Cindy Rodriguez, and Carlos Mallen took part in the 
event.  Office visits and scheduled appointments took place with Representative Ryan Guillen, 
Representative Andrew Murr, Representative Tracy King, Representative Eddie Morales, Senator 
Judith Zaffirini, and Senator Roland Gutierrez.  Sarah Cook also met with the Secretary of States 
Office along with the TTA Executive Director, DART Governmental Affairs Rep, TTA Board 
President, and the TTA Advocacy Rep.  As the V.P. for Rural Transit Systems in Texas,  Sarah 
advocated for support from the Secretary of States Office for TxDOT’s Legislative Appropriations 
Request for rural systems and future sources of dedicated funding for rural and small urbans.  

215



• Maria Camacho, Mobility Management Specialist, was awarded a scholarship to attend the 
Southwest Transit Association’s Annual Training & Conference in Denver Colorado on February 
22-26.  Others attending were Sarah Cook, Cindy Rodriguez, and Carlos Mallen. At the 
conference Sarah was able to meet directly with the Region 6 FTA Administrator in regard to the 
urbanized transition.  

• Frank Villalobos, Safety & Training Technician was awarded a scholarship from the National Bus 
Summit to attend their annual summit addressing transit technology initiatives throughout the 
transit industry.  The summit was held on February 19-22 in Rockwell, Texas.    

• Sarah Cook received a scholarship from TxDOT to attend the 2023 Federal Transit 
Administration’s Drug & Alcohol Training & Conference.  The training is being held in San Diego, 
California on March 13-16.  Cindy Rodriguez and Frank Villalobos who are the federally certified 
collectors for the SWAART Drug & Alcohol Testing Program will also be attending.  Sarah is the 
Drug & Alcohol Program Manager for the federally required program.  

• SWART staff will be attending the 2023 Texas Transit Statewide Training & Conference in Corpus 
Christi on April 12-15.  Laura Herrera will be attending financial training being offered.  SWART 
will also have 2 Dispatchers who will attend Dispatch Training from April 13-15 while mechanics 
will attend training on the same days. Two SWART drivers will be competing at the 2023 Texas 
State Bus Roadeo and driver training from April 13-16.  Scholarship requests have been 
submitted for various staff attending the annual training event being sponsored by TxDOT and the 
Texas Transit Association. Cindy and Frank will be attending Safety & Security sessions while 
Carlos Mallen, Chief Operations Manager, will be attending route planning and operations geared 
sessions.  Sarah Cook will be a part of a training panel regarding “Planning for the Future” as well 
as facilitate the Rural Transit System Caucus and the Women in Transit Focus Group Session.   

• SWART will be applying for the American Public Transportation Association (APTA) one-time 
funding grant for Community Initiatives.  The application is due March 24 with a maximum request 
of $10,000.  SWART intends to apply on behalf of our Southwest Initiative for Mobility program to 
support mobility management activities.  

 

Upcoming Tentative Dates 

Date Event Attendees Notes 
March 13-16 FTA Drug & Alcohol Training & 

Conference, San Diego, CA 
Sarah Cook, Cindy 
Rodriguez,  Frank 
Villalobos 

Scholarship 
Received 

March 21 TxDOT Connecting Texas 2050 
Meeting Laredo, TX 

Sarah Cook  

April 7 Good Friday Holiday   
April 12-16 TTA Annual Training & 

Conference, Corpus Christi 
Various staff Scholarships 

requested 
May 21-25 CTAA Annual Training & 

Conference/National  Roadeo, 
Oklahoma City, OK 

TBD  

May 29 Memorial Holiday    
June 11-14 SHRM (Human Resources) 

Training & Conference, Las 
Vegas, NV 

Cindy Rodriguez & Carlos 
Mallen 

 

June 12-15 SWART Try Transit Week & 
Anniversary 

All Counties  

216



June 19 June Teenth Holiday   
June 22 SWART Board of Directors 

Meeting 
  

    
Note:  Skeleton crew work holidays for dialysis routes.  

           

Southwest Initiative for Mobility (SWIM) 

September 2021 – December 2022 

 

 

Social Media Platforms 

Please like our social media pages to receive the latest news from SWART.  

Facebook Link    https://www.facebook.com/Southwest-Area-Regional-Transit-District-
109668858429252 
 
Twitter Link          https://twitter.com/PaseoSWART 
 

MONTHS EVENTS 
ATTENDED

CONTACTS PRESENTATIONS 
GIVEN

FLYERS 
DISTRIBUTED

AGENCIES 
VISITED

Sep-21 2                      2,242                 2                              2,252                  50                        
Oct-21 2                      1,608                 2                              1,574                  32                        
Nov-21 2                      2,470                 2                              2,120                  57                        
Dec-21 1                      2,901                 1                              2,871                  60                        
Jan-22 1                      1,450                 1                              1,350                  39                        
Feb-22 4                      1,920                 3                              1,730                  42                        
Mar-22 4                      2,868                 4                              2,675                  71                        
Apr-22 4                      2,180                 3                              1,950                  67                        
May-22 4                      3,301                 4                              3,072                  103                      
Jun-22 4                      1,045                 3                              1,316                  30                        
Jul-22 3                      2,521                 3                              2,240                  55                        
Aug-22 2                      5,273                 6                              5,020                  8                           
Sep-22 9                      5,496                 9                              4,437                  51                        
Oct-22 7                      2,853                 7                              2,370                  51                        
Nov-22 3                      3,305                 3                              3,130                  50                        
Dec-22 2                      2,130                 2                              1,082                  56                        
Jan-23 2                      2,458                 2                              360                     53                        
TOTAL 56                   46,021              57                            39,549               875                      

TRAVEL TRAINING/CASE MANAGEMENT 25

217

https://www.facebook.com/Southwest-Area-Regional-Transit-District-109668858429252
https://www.facebook.com/Southwest-Area-Regional-Transit-District-109668858429252
https://twitter.com/PaseoSWART


SELECTION 

Our SWIM region was selected to form a coalition.  The “kick off” meeting will be held 
on March 9th at the Willie De Leon Civic Center.   

At the November 30, 2022 Regional Planning Stakeholders Committee meeting held in 
Uvalde, there were various needs discussed relevant to 

healthcare and mobility. The need to apply for assistance through Prosperemos Juntos | 
Thriving Together which could provide a clear, educational, and 

impactful avenue for the region to address various healthcare and mobility needs. 

To watch the orientation video visit the link:  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=X3ssjgocaYU 

 

Visit the link below to learn about the 7 Vital Conditions of Health & Wellbeing: 

https://www.communitycommons.org/collections/Seven-Vital-Conditions-for-Health-and-
Well-Being 

 

218

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=X3ssjgocaYU
https://www.communitycommons.org/collections/Seven-Vital-Conditions-for-Health-and-Well-Being
https://www.communitycommons.org/collections/Seven-Vital-Conditions-for-Health-and-Well-Being

	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-22-2023 additions.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET.pdf
	03-22-2023  AGENDA.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET.pdf
	CIOVER SHEET - MINUTES.pdf
	December 20, 2022 Board Meeting.pdf




	MONTH.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET
	FINAL SWART Audit Report 2022.pdf




	PROCUREMENTS.pdf
	COVER SHEET REVISED Budget.pdf
	MONTH.pdf
	Board Packet  Procurements 03 22 2023.pdf
	COVER SHEET budget close outs.pdf
	Board Packet  Procurements 03 22 2023
	COVER SHEET REVENUE & EXPENSE REPORTS.pdf
	Board Packet  Procurements 03 22 2023
	COVER SHEETS NEW BUDGETS.pdf
	Board Packet  Procurements 03 22 2023

	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MONTH.pdf






	5310 FY 2020-2021.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-22-2023 additions
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET.pdf
	COVER SHEET REVISED Budget.pdf
	DRAFT FORMATION DOCUMENTS FOR BOARD REVIEW (Partners In Transit Inc.) (L2235105x7AEDB).pdf
	0. Minute Book Index (SWART) (L2194100x7AEDB)
	1. Corporate Letter (SWART) (L2194101-2x7AEDB)
	2. Consent to Serve as Registered Agent (SWART) (L2194103x7AEDB)
	3. Certificate of Formation (SWART) (L2193988x7AEDB)
	5. Bylaws (SWART) (L2193992-2x7AEDB)
	6. Organizational Minutes - (SWART) (L2194099-2x7AEDB)
	7. Conflict of Interest Policy (SWART) (L2194095x7AEDB)






	Board Packet Financials 03 22 2023.pdf




	Bank Screenshot.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023
	Board Packet Financials 03 22 2023
	Board Packet Financials 03 22 2023
	Budget Close Out FY 2023.pdf
	505 2023 RV
	515-2023 RV
	508 CO
	515-2022 CO
	521 CO


	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET
	COVER SHEET GM Report.pdf





	PROSPEREMOS JUNTOS.pdf



	Copy of Revised Pay Scale February 17 2023.pdf
	Copy of Revised Pay Scale February 17 2023.pdf
	Copy of Revised Pay Scale February 17 2023.pdf
	COVER SHEET REVENUE & EXPENSE REPORTS.pdf
	Copy of Revised Pay Scale February 17 2023.pdf
	Sheet1


	COVER SHEET REVENUE & EXPENSE REPORTS.pdf

	Pay adjustment.pdf


	MARCH 22, 2023 GENERAL MANAGERS REPORT.pdf
	MARCH 22 2023 BOARD PACKET SHC 03-10-2023





